

## **UNESP - UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL PAULISTA**

Instituto de Biociências

Campus de Botucatu

# REGULAÇÃO DA EXPRESSÃO DE FATORES SECRETADOS PELO OÓCITO (FSOs) E SEUS RECEPTORES DURANTE A MATURAÇÃO *IN VITRO* (MIV) BOVINA E AÇÕES NO CONTROLE DA EXPANSÃO DO CUMULUS

ESTER SIQUEIRA CAIXETA

TESE DE DOUTORADO EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS

BOTUCATU/SP FEVEREIRO DE 2012



## **UNESP - UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL PAULISTA**

Instituto de Biociências

Campus de Botucatu

# REGULAÇÃO DA EXPRESSÃO DE FATORES SECRETADOS PELO OÓCITO (FSOs) E SEUS RECEPTORES DURANTE A MATURAÇÃO *IN VITRO* (MIV) BOVINA E AÇÕES NO CONTROLE DA EXPANSÃO DO CUMULUS

PÓS-GRADUANDA: Ester Siqueira Caixeta

**ORIENTADOR:** José Buratini Junior

TESE DE DOUTORADO EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS

BOTUCATU/SP FEVEREIRO DE 2012

#### FICHA CATALOGRÁFICA ELABORADA PELA SEÇÃO DE AQUIS. E TRAT. DA INFORMAÇÃO DIVISÃO TÉCNICA DE BIBLIOTECA E DOCUMENTAÇÃO - CAMPUS DE BOTUCATU - UNESP BIBLIOTECÁRIA RESPONSÁVEL: **ROSEMEIRE APARECIDA VICENTE**

Caixeta, Ester Siqueira.

Regulação da expressão de fatores secretados pelo oócito (FSOs) e seus receptores durante a maturação *in vitro* (MIV) bovina e ações no controle da expansão do cumulus / Ester Siqueira Caixeta. – Botucatu : [s.n.], 2012

Tese (doutorado) - Universidade Estadual Paulista, Instituto de Biociências Botucatu

Orientador: José Buratini Junior Capes: 21005001

1. Farmacologia. 2. Biologia molecular. 3. Bovino.

Palavras-chave: Expansão do cumulus; Fatores EGF-*like*; Fatores secretados pelo oócito; Maturação *in vitro*.

## **UNESP - UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL PAULISTA**

Instituto de Biociências

**Campus de Botucatu** 

# REGULAÇÃO DA EXPRESSÃO DE FATORES SECRETADOS PELO OÓCITO (FSOs) E SEUS RECEPTORES DURANTE A MATURAÇÃO *IN VITRO* (MIV) BOVINA E AÇÕES NO CONTROLE DA EXPANSÃO DO CUMULUS

### ESTER SIQUEIRA CAIXETA

TESE DE DOUTORADO SUBMETIDA AO PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS DO INSTITUTO DE BIOCIÊNCIAS DE BOTUCATU, UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL PAULISTA – UNESP, PARA OBTENÇÃO DO GRAU DE DOUTOR EM CIÊNCIAS BIOLÓGICAS – ÁREA: FARMACOLOGIA.

BOTUCATU/SP, 06 de FEVEREIRO de 2012

"Oh! Que me abençoes e me alargues as fronteiras, que seja comigo a tua mão e me preserves do mal, de modo que não me sobrevenha aflição!" I Crônicas 4:10 "Ao Deus que me revestiu de força e aperfeiçoou o meu caminho" (Salmos 18:32).

Aos meus amorosos pais Ivan e Elenice, que oraram por mim e estiveram sempre ao meu lado. Muito obrigada pelo carinho, incentivo e paciência constantes. Vocês serão sempre meu orgulho! Amo vocês!

Aos meus irmãos Dani e Bruna (cunhada), por serem tão especiais, e Mari, pelo quanto é importante para mim... A melhor conversa, a melhor risada, o mais precioso segredo... e sem dúvida, os melhores momentos.

Aos meus avós Sylvia (em memória), José, Cornélia e Isaltino, pelas orações e pelo exemplo de vida.

Ao Russo, que mesmo a distância soube se fazer presente sempre! Pelo companheirismo, carinho e força em todos os momentos. Você é essencial.

À tia Elen, mais que tia, uma irmã, pela disposição em me ajudar sempre, pelos conselhos, amizade e pelos momentos inesquecíveis que vivemos juntas, e ao Tio Marcelo, pela hospedagem em Botucatu e pela sua alegria contagiante.

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

Ao meu orientador, **Prof. Dr. José Buratini Junior**, agradeço pelos ensinamentos e atenção dispensada durante esses anos. Tenho por você grande admiração, gratidão e respeito.

À UNESP – Instituto de Biociências, pela oportunidade concedida para a realização deste doutorado.

Aos **Professores e Funcionários do Departamento de Fisiologia**, pela amizade e incentivo.

Aos **Funcionários da seção de pós-graduação**, Erivaldo, Luciene, Luciana e Davi, pela ajuda e colaboração durante todo o meu doutorado.

Ao **Prof. Ciro Moraes Barros**, do Departamento de Farmacologia (Unesp-Botucatu), por permitir o nosso acesso no seu laboratório sempre que foi necessário.

À grande amiga **Allice**, agradeço pelo alegre convívio durante parte deste período, pelo companheirismo, apoio e amizade. A nossa "casinha" contribuiu muito para o meu crescimento pessoal. Você ficará sempre no meu coração!

Ao **Prof. Cristopher A. Price**, do Centro de Pesquisa em Reprodução Animal, da Faculdade de Medicina Veterinária, (Universidade de Montreal, Canadá) pela constante ajuda no desenvolvimento deste trabalho.

Aos **amigos e colegas de doutorado**, Anthony, Cíntia, Diego, Mariana, Paula Fernanda, Paula Ripamonte e Rúbia ... a todos, muito obrigada!

À Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo – FAPESP, pela concessão da bolsa de doutorado e pelo suporte financeiro para a realização deste trabalho.

# ÍNDICE

LISTA DE FIGURAS	ix
LISTA DE TABELAS	xiv
LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS	XV
RESUMO	xviii
ABSTRACT	XX
CAPÍTULO 1	1
1 INTRODUÇÃO E JUSTIFICATIVA	2
2 REVISÃO DE LITERATURA	4
2.1 Interação entre o oócito e as células somáticas adjacentes	4
2.2 Importância das células foliculares na maturação oocitária	6
2.3 Fatores EGF-like	8
2.3.1 Genes alvo dos fatores EGF-like na indução da expansão das células do	
cumulus	10
2.4 Fatores de crescimento secretados pelos oócitos	12
2.4.1 FGF10	12
2.4.2 Fatores de crescimento transformantes $\beta$ (TGF $\beta$ )	14
3 REFERÊNCIAS BIBLIOGRÁFICAS	16
CAPÍTULO 2 - BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEIN 15 (BMP15) AND	27
FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR 10 (FGF10) ENHANCE CUMULUS	
EXPANSION AND DIFFERENTLY REGULATE GENE EXPRESSION IN	
BOVINE CUMULUS CELLS	
ABSTRACT	31
INTRODUCTION	32
MATERIALS AND METHODS	33
RESULTS	36
DISCUSSION	37
REFERENCES	43
FIGURE LEGENDS	48

# CAPÍTULO 3 - FSH REGULATES THE EXPRESSION OF RECEPTORS FOR 58 OOCYTE SECRETED FACTORS (FSOs) AND MEMBERS OF THE EGF-LIKE FAMILY DURING *IN VITRO* MATURATION IN CATTLE

ABSTRACT	60
INTRODUCTION	61
MATERIALS AND METHODS	62
RESULTS	64
DISCUSSION	65
REFERENCES	69
FIGURE LEGENDS	74

# RESULTADOS ADICIONAIS - EFEITOS DA PROTEÍNA MORFOGÊNICA 82 ÓSSEA (BMP15) E DO FATOR DE CRESCIMENTO FIBROBLÁSTICO 10 (FGF10) SOBRE A VIA METABÓLICA DE EXPANSÃO DO CUMULUS

1 INTRODUÇÃO	83
2 EFEITOS DA BMP15 E DO FGF10 SOBRE O CONSUMO DE GLICOSE E	
PRODUÇÃO DE LACTATO	86
3 EFEITOS DA BMP15 E DO FGF10 SOBRE A EXPRESSÃO GÊNICA DAS	
ENZIMAS GFPT1 E GFPT2 E DOS FACILITADORES DO TRANSPORTE DA	
GLICOSE (GLUT1 E GLUT4)	88
4 REFERÊNCIAS BIBLIOGRÁFICAS	91

# **CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS**

#### LISTA DE FIGURAS

# Figura Capítulo 1

Modelo da regulação *in vivo* do sistema EFG-*like* pelo LH nas células da 10 granulosa e nas células do cumulus, estimulando a retomada da meiose no oócito e a expansão do cumulus.

2 - Modelo esquemático para a função proposta da TSG6 na estabilização da matriz
12 extracelular do cumulus. A TSG6 forma um complexo com as cadeias pesadas do fator derivado do soro inibidor inter-α-tripsina (HC-TSG6) que contribui para a estabilização da matriz como resultado de uma forte afinidade da TSG6 em se ligar ao ácido hialurônico.

## Capítulo 2

1 - Effects of BMP15 (A), FGF10 (B) and the combination of both (C) on cumulus 51 expansion. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 and FGF10, and with combination of BMP15 (100 ng/ml) and FGF10 (10 ng/ml) at doses that stimulated cumulus expansion. After culture for 22 hours, the degree of expansion was classified from grades 1 to 3. The proportion of fully expanded COCs (grade 3) was increased by BMP15 at 100 ng/ml and FGF10 at 10 ng/ml, but the combination of both did not further stimulate expansion. Different letters within grades indicate significant differences (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each treatment.

2 - Effects of time on *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC*, *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* 52 and *TSG6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells during IVM. COCs were cultured for 1, 4, 8, 12, 16 and 22 hours. Groups of immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly

#### Página

different (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

3 - Effects of grading doses of BMP15 on *ADAM10/17*, *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and 53 *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

4 - Effects of grading doses of BMP15 on *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA 54 abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

5 - Effects of grading doses of FGF10 on *ADAM10/17*, *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and 55 *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FGF10 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

6 - Effects of grading doses of FGF10 on *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA 56 abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FGF10 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

7 - Effects of grading doses of BMP15 on *FGFR1B*, ALK6 and *BMPRII* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

### Capítulo 3

1 - Effects of time and FSH on *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells during IVM. COCs were cultured for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 hours with (10 ng/ml) or without FSH. Groups of immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample and were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Bars with asterisks represent differences in relation to time 0 hours (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

2 - Effects of grading doses of FSH on *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA 78 abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FSH for 12 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample are were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

3 - Effects of time and FSH on *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2B*, *FGFR2C*, *FGFR3C*, *BMPRII*, 79 *ALK5* and *ALK6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells during IVM. COCs were cultured for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 hours with (10 ng/ml) or without FSH. Groups of immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values (±S.E.M.) relative to

57

a calibrator sample and were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Bars with asterisks represent differences in relation to time 0 hours (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

4 - Effects of grading doses of FSH on *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2B*, *FGFR2C*, *FGFR3C*, 80 *BMPRII*, *ALK5* and *ALK6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FSH for 12 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample are were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

5 - Effects of *in vitro* maturation on *BMP15*, *GDF9*, *FGF10*, *FGF8* and *FGF17* 81 mRNA abundance in oocytes. Oocytes were separated from COCs before (immature) and after culture for 20 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Asterisks indicate differences between 0 and 20 hours of culture (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

#### **Resultados adicionais**

Vias metabólicas através das quais a glicose pode ser utilizada no complexo
 84 cumulus-oócito (COC). AR, aldose redutase; ECM, matriz extracelular; G6PDH, glicose-6-fosfato desidrogenase; GFPT, glicosamina:frutose-6-fosfato acetil transferase; HAS-2, hialurona sintetase 2; HK, hexoquinase; OGT, glicosilação O-*linked*; PFK, fosfofrutoquinase; SDH, sorbitol desidrogenase.

2 - Utilização da glicose pela via da hexosamina para a síntese de ácido hialurônico. 85

3 - Consumo de glicose (A) e produção de lactato (B) pelos complexos cumulus87 oócito (COCs) após 22 horas de maturação em meio controle (-BMP15 -FGF10),

xii

+BMP15 (100ng/ml), +FGF10 (10ng/ml) ou +BMP15 +FGF10. Os dados estão apresentados como média  $\pm$ EPM. As barras com diferentes letras indicam valores significativamente diferentes (*P*<0,05). Os dados foram obtidos a partir de 3 réplicas independentes para cada tratamento.

4 - Efeito das doses crescentes de BMP15 sobre a abundância de RNAm da GFPT1 89 e GFPT2 nas células do cumulus. Os COCs foram cultivados com doses crescentes de BMP15 por 4, 12 e 22 horas. A abundância do RNAm foi mensurada por PCR em tempo real. Os dados estão apresentados como média ( $\pm$ EPM) em relação a uma amostra calibradora pelo método de  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct com correção da eficiência. As barras com diferentes letras indicam valores significativamente diferentes (P<0,05). Os dados foram obtidos a partir de 4 independentes réplicas para cada tratamento.

5 - Efeito das doses crescentes de FGF10 sobre a abundância de RNAm da GFPT1 e 90 GFPT2 nas células do cumulus. Os COCs foram cultivados com doses crescentes de FGF10 por 4, 12 e 22 horas. A abundância do RNAm foi mensurada por PCR em tempo real. Os dados estão apresentados como média ( $\pm$ EPM) em relação a uma amostra calibradora pelo método de  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct com correção da eficiência. As barras com diferentes letras indicam valores significativamente diferentes (P<0,05). Os dados foram obtidos a partir de 4 independentes réplicas para cada tratamento.

#### **Considerações Finais**

1 - Modelo sugerido para a regulação da expressão de genes indutores da expansão do cumulus pela BMP15 e FGF10. Enquanto a BMP15, via SMADs1/5/8, parece estimular a expressão de genes do início da cascata que leva à expansão (ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG e EREG), e por intermádio deles, a expressão de genes que diretamente estimulam a expansão do cumulus (COX2, TSG6, PTX3 e HAS2), o FGF10 parece agir especificamente sobre esses últimos, particularmente a COX2.

xiii

## LISTA DE TABELAS

Tabela	Página
Capítulo 1	
1 - Information of specific primers used for amplification in real time PCR.	50
Capítulo 2	

1 - Information of specific primers used for amplification in real time PCR. 76

### LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS

#### Capítulo 1 e Resultados adicionais

- **ADAM** = família desintegrina e metaloproteinases
- **ALK** = receptor ativina semelhante a kinase
- **AMPc** = adenosina monofosfato cíclico
- $\mathbf{AR} =$ aldose redutase
- **AREG** = ampiregulina
- **BMP15** = proteína morfogênica óssea 15
- **BMPRII** = receptor de BMP do tipo II
- **BSA** = albumina sérica bovina
- BTC = betacelulina
- **COC** = complexo cumulus-oócito
- **COX2** = ciclooxigenase 2
- $\mathbf{C}\mathbf{x} = \operatorname{conexina}$
- **ECM** = matriz extracelular
- **EGF** = fator de crescimento epidermal
- EGF-like = fatores de crescimento epidermal (EGF)-like
- **EGFR** = receptores de EGF
- **EREG** = epiregulina
- **ERK** = quinases reguladas por sinais extracelulares
- **FGF** = fatores de crescimento fibroblástico
- **FIV** = fecundação *in vitro*
- **FSH** = hormônio folículo estimulante
- **FSO** = fatores secretados pelo oócito
- **G6PDH** = glicose-6-fosfato desidrogenase
- **GDF9** = fator de crescimento e diferenciação 9
- **GFPT** = L-glicosamina:D-frutose-6-fosfato acetil transferase (GFPT)
- **GLUT** = facilitadores do transporte da glicose
- **GMPc** = monofosfato cíclico de guanosina
- **HAS2** = hialurona sintetase 2
- HB-EGF = fator de crescimento semelhante ao EGF ligado a heparina
- HK = hexoquinase

**IP3** = inositol trifosfato

- $I\alpha I$  = fator derivado do soro inibidor inter- $\alpha$ -tripsina
- **LH** = hormônio luteinizante

**MIV** = maturação *in vitro* 

**OGT** = glicosilação O-*linked* 

**PDE3** = fosfodiesterase do tipo 3

**PFK** = fosfofrutoquinase

**PGE2** = prostaglandina E2

**PTGS2** = prostaglandina sintetase 2

**PTX3** = pentraxina 3

**RNA** = ácido ribonucléico

**RNAm** = ácido ribonucléico mensageiro

**SDH** = sorbitol desidrogenase

**TGF** $\alpha$  = fator de crescimento transformante  $\alpha$ 

**TGF** $\beta$  = fatores de crescimento transformante  $\beta$ 

**TSG6** = proteína indutora do fator de necrose tumoral 6

**TZP** = processos citoplasmáticos trans-zonais

## Capítulo 2 e Capítulo 3

**ADAM** = disintegrin and metalloproteinase family

**ALK** = activin receptor-like kinase

**ANOVA** = analysis of variance

**AREG** = amphiregulin

**BMP15** = bone morphogenetic protein 15

**BMPRII** = BMP receptor II

**BSA** = bovine serum albumin

**BTC** = betacellulin

 $CO_2$  = carbon dioxide

**COC** = cumulus–oocyte complexes

**COX2** = cyclooxygenase 2

CYC-A = cyclophilin-A

**DNA** = deoxyribonucleic acid

**EGF-like** = epidermal growth factor-like

**EREG** = epiregulin

- FGF = fibroblast growth factor
- **FSH** = follicle-stimulating hormone

 $\mathbf{g} = \text{gravity}$ 

**GAPDH** = glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase

**GDF9** = growth and differentiation factor 9

 $\mathbf{h} = \text{hour}$ 

**H2AFZ** = histone H2AFZ

**HAS2** = hyaluronan synthase 2

**hCG** = human chorionic gonadotropin

**IVM** = *in vitro* maturation

**LH** = luteinizing hormone

**mRNA** = messenger ribonucleic acid

**NaCl** = sodium chloride

**OSF** = oocyte secreted factors

**PBS** = phosphate buffered saline

**PCR** = polymerase chain reaction

**PTX3** = pentraxin 3

**RNA** = ribonucleic acid

**RT-PCR** = reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction

**S.E.M.** = error of the mean

TSG6 = tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-6 protein

#### RESUMO

CAIXETA, E.S. Regulação da expressão de fatores secretados pelo oócito (FSOs) e seus receptores durante a maturação *in vitro* (MIV) bovina e ações no controle da expansão do cumulus. Botucatu, 2012. Tese (Doutorado - Ciências Biológicas - Farmacologia) - Instituto de Biociências, IB, Universidade Estadual Paulista - UNESP.

O oócito participa ativamente dos mecanismos reguladores da maturação do complexo cumulus-oócito (COC) via secreção de fatores parácrinos. A proteína morfogênica óssea 15 (BMP15) e o fator de crescimento e diferenciação 9 (GDF9) têm concentrado a maior parte da atenção direcionada aos fatores secretados pelo oócito (FSO) e têm sido associados com a melhora na competência para o desenvolvimento do COC. Em adição, recentemente, detectamos a expressão de fatores de crescimento fibroblástico (FGFs) no oócito e seus receptores nas células do cumulus (FGF10 e seus receptores FGFR1B e 2B; FGF8 e 17 e seus receptores FGFR2C e 3C), sugerindo o envolvimento do sistema FGF na regulação da diferenciação das células do cumulus. O presente trabalho investigou a regulação da expressão do RNAm de FSOs (BMP15, GDF9, FGF8, FGF10 e FGF17) e seus receptores, bem como de membros da família de fatores de crescimento epidermal (EGF)-like [ampiregulina (AREG), epiregulina (EREG) e betacelulina (BTC)] durante a maturação in vitro (MIV) bovina estimulada pelo FSH. O FSH estimulou a expressão do FGFR2C, FGFR3C, FGFR1B, ALK6, AREG e EREG nas células do cumulus durante a MIV. A expressão do RNAm do FGF8 e FGF17, mas não da BMP15, GDF9 e FGF10 diminuiu no oócito durante a MIV. Em adição foram investigadas especificamente as ações da BMP15 e do FGF10 sobre a expansão do cumulus e expressão gênica de membros da família desintegrina e metaloproteinases (ADAM10 e ADAM17), membros da família dos fatores EGF-like (AREG, EREG e BTC) e de genes sabidamente envolvidos no controle da expansão do cumulus [ciclooxigenase 2 (COX2), hialurona sintetase 2 (HAS2), proteína indutora do fator de necrose tumoral 6 (TSG6) e pentraxina 3 (PTX3)]. A BMP15 e o FGF10 aumentaram a porcentagem de COCs completamente expandidos. Em adição, a BMP15 aumentou a expressão do RNAm da ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG, EREG, HAS2, COX2, PTX3 e TSG6. O FGF10 não alterou a expressão dos fatores EGF-like, mas aumentou a expressão do RNAm da COX2, PTX3 e TSG6. Em síntese, o FSH estimula expressão de receptores para importantes FSOs nas células do cumulus, assim como dos fatores EGF-like (AREG e EREG). A BMP15 e o FGF10 intensificam a expansão do cumulus durante a MIV por diferentes mecanismos. Enquanto o FGF10 estimulou rapidamente a COX2 e

subsequentemente a PTX3 e TGS6 sem alterar a expressão dos EGF-*like* e das ADAMs, o aumento na expressão da COX2, PTX3, TSG6 e HAS2 induzido pela BMP15 foi observado após ou em associação com o aumento na expressão da ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG e EREG. Estas observações sugerem que a BMP15 estimula a expressão dos genes indutores da expansão via membros da família EGF-like, enquanto o FGF10 parece atuar mais diretamente sobre a COX2.

Palavras Chave: Expansão do cumulus; Fatores EGF-*like*; Fatores secretados pelo oócito; Maturação *in vitro*.

#### ABSTRACT

CAIXETA, E.S. Regulation of expression of oocyte secreted factors (OSFs) and their receptors during bovine *in vitro* maturation (IVM) and actions in the control of cumulus expansion. Botucatu, 2012. Tese (Doutorado - Ciências Biológicas - Farmacologia) - Instituto de Biociências, IB, Universidade Estadual Paulista - UNESP.

The oocyte actively participates in the regulatory mechanisms of cumulus-oocyte complex (COC) maturation via secretion of paracrine factors. Bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) and growth and differentiation factor 9 (GDF9) have concentrated most of the attention directed to oocyte secreted factors (OSFs) and have been shown to enhance developmental competence of the COC. In addition, fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) have also been recognized as important OSFs. Recently, we detected the expression of FGFs in the oocytes and their receptors in cumulus cells (FGF10 and its receptors FGFR1B and 2B; FGF8 and 17 and their receptors FGFR2C and 3C), suggesting the involvement of the FGF system in the regulation of cumulus cells differentiation. The present study investigated the mRNA expression pattern for FSOs (BMP15, GDF9, FGF8, FGF10 and FGF17) and their receptors, as well as of epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like family members [ampiregulina (AREG), epiregulina (EREG) and betacelulina (BTC)] during bovine COC in vitro maturation (IVM) stimulated by FSH. The FSH stimulated mRNA expression of FGFR2C, FGFR3C, FGFR1B, ALK6, AREG and EREG in cumulus cells during IVM. Messenger RNA expression of FGF8 and FGF17, but not of BMP15, GDF9 and FGF10, decreased in the oocyte during IVM. In addition were specifically investigated the actions of BMP15 and FGF10 on cumulus expansion and gene expression of disintegrin and metalloproteinase family members (ADAM10 and ADAM17), of EGF-like family members (AREG, EREG and BTC) and the major expansion-inducing genes genes [cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2), hyaluronan synthase 2 (HAS2), pentraxin 3 (PTX3), tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-6 protein (TSG6)]. BMP15 and FGF10 increased the percentage of fully expanded cumulus-oocyte complexes. In addition, BMP15 increased mRNA expression of ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG, EREG, HAS2, COX2, PTX3 and TSG6. FGF10 did not alter the expression of EGF-like factors but enhanced mRNA expression of COX2, PTX3, and TSG6. In summary, FSH enhances the expression of receptors for important OSFs in cumulus cells and of EGF-like members (AREG and EREG). BMP15 and FGF10 improve the cumulus expansion during IVM but induced different gene expression patterns in cumulus cells. While FGF10 increased COX2 promptly and PTX3/TSG6 subsequently without altering AREG and EREG, the increases in

COX2, PTX3, TSG6, HAS2 expression induced by BMP15 were observed only after or in association with the increase in AREG and EREG expression. This observation suggests the BMP15 stimulates the expression of expansion-inducing genes via the EGF-like family members, while FGF10 appears to act upon more directly pathways.

Key words: Cumulus expansion, EGF-like factors, Oocyte secreted factors, In vitro maturation.

**CAPÍTULO 1** 

### 1 INTRODUÇÃO E JUSTIFICATIVA

O ovário mamífero possui milhares de oócitos inclusos em folículos pré-antrais, entretanto, apenas uma pequena parcela destes folículos alcançam a ovulação, enquanto que os demais são eliminados pelo processo conhecido como atresia folicular. A natureza seletiva do desenvolvimento folicular tem como consequência um grande desperdício de células germinativas femininas, as quais poderiam ser aproveitadas pelo emprego de biotécnicas da reprodução como a superovulação seguida de transferência de embriões e a maturação e fecundação *in vitro* de oócitos obtidos por aspiração folicular. Sendo assim, há grande interesse no aprimoramento de tais biotécnicas, de forma a ampliar o potencial reprodutivo de fêmeas com genótipos de destaque ou de espécies ameaçadas, beneficiando tanto a produção de alimentos de origem animal, quanto a preservação da biodiversidade.

A eficiência da maturação oocitária é largamente superior em condições fisiológicas (*in vivo*) em comparação ao sistema *in vitro* (van de Leemput *et al.*, 1999; Rizos *et al.*, 2002). Nesse sentido, são necessárias informações mais completas e precisas sobre as interações entre as células somáticas e germinativas que formam o complexo cumulus-oócito (COC), bem como sobre as exigências para seu pleno funcionamento. Tal conhecimento contribuiria para o desenvolvimento de meios de cultivo que atendessem de maneira efetiva às exigências do processo de maturação *in vitro* (MIV), de forma a minimizar o impacto da perda da unidade folicular durante o cultivo. Não obstante, uma melhor eficiência da MIV beneficiaria biotécnicas de alta relevância sócio-econômica dependentes dela como a fecundação *in vitro* (FIV), a clonagem e a transgenia. Portanto, além de gerarem conhecimentos básicos valiosos, estudos aprofundados sobre a diferenciação dos oócitos e das células do cumulus podem contribuir para o aperfeiçoamento de biotécnicas da reprodução, o que demonstra sua importância prática.

A comunicação entre as células do cumulus e o oócito é bidirecional e essencial para a maturação nuclear e citoplasmática. Conseqüentemente, ela viabiliza a competência do oócito para a fecundação e geração de um embrião com alto potencial de desenvolvimento (Tanghe *et al.*, 2002; Fair, 2003). O oócito participa ativamente dos mecanismos reguladores da maturação do COC via secreção de fatores parácrinos que agem em cooperação com os hormônios para controlar a diferenciação das células somáticas adjacentes e, indiretamente, dele próprio (Eppig, 2001; McNatty *et al.*, 2004, Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008). Dentre os fatores secretados pelo oócito (FSOs), a proteína morfogênica óssea 15 (BMP15) e o fator de crescimento e diferenciação 9 (GDF9) têm concentrado a maior parte das pesquisas e têm sido

associados com a melhora da competência para o desenvolvimento do COC (Juengel *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008).

Os fatores de crescimento fibroblástico (FGFs) constituem outro grupo de potenciais moléculas sinalizadoras derivadas do oócito. Recentemente foi demonstrada a expressão do FGF8, 10 e 17 em oócitos bovinos (Buratini *et al.*, 2005; Buratini *et al.*, 2007, Machado *et al.*, 2009), possivelmente envolvidos na regulação da diferenciação das células do cumulus, já que elas expressam receptores para esses FGFs (Cho *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2010). O FGF10 é membro da subfamília FGF7, juntamente com o fator homônimo e com os FGFs 3 e 22, com quem compartilha características estruturais e afinidade pelos mesmos receptores (FGFR1B e FGFR2B; Itoh e Ornitz, 2004). Recentemente, foi demonstrado em bovinos que a adição de FGF10 durante a MIV de COCs estimula a expansão das células do cumulus e eleva as taxas de produção embrionária (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Em adição, já foi demonstrado que os FGFs estão envolvidos na regulação do metabolismo energético das células do cumulus em camundongos, uma vez que o FGF8 oocitário, em sinergismo com a BMP15, estimulou a expressão e atividade de enzimas glicolíticas nas células do cumulus (Sugiura *et al.*, 2007).

Sendo assim, este trabalho teve como objetivo avaliar a participação e os mecanismos de ação da BMP15 e do FGF10 no controle da expansão das células do cumulus bovinas. Foi testada a hipótese de que estes fatores de crescimento estimulam a expressão de genes específicos na cascata que induz a expansão do cumulus. Em adição, foram avaliados os efeitos do FSH sobre a expressão dos genes envolvidos na expansão do cumulus e na sinalização de FSOs durante a MIV em bovinos.

### 2 REVISÃO DE LITERATURA

#### 2.1 Interação entre o oócito e as células somáticas adjacentes

Os oócitos de mamíferos crescem e se desenvolvem em uma íntima relação de dependência com as células somáticas adjacentes (Eppig, 2001). É de conhecimento comum que as células somáticas dão suporte para o desenvolvimento do oócito, fornecendo nutrientes essenciais (Buccione *et al.*, 1990a). Por muito tempo acreditou-se que o oócito tivesse um comportamento passivo na unidade folicular, apenas recebendo influências das células somáticas adjacentes. No entanto, nos últimos anos tornou-se evidente que o oócito é um regulador central da diferenciação e funções das células foliculares ao longo da foliculogênese. O oócito participa ativamente de processos fundamentais, tais como a oogênese, formação e ativação do *pool* de folículos primordiais, transição de folículo primário para secundário, transição de folículo pré-antral para antral, proliferação e diferenciação das células da granulosa, taxa de ovulação e fertilidade nas fêmeas mamíferas (Eppig, 2001; McNatty *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008; Su *et al.*, 2009).

Durante a transição de folículos pré-antrais para o estágio antral, as células da granulosa são diferenciadas em duas populações anatômica e funcionalmente distintas: as células do cumulus, que estão diretamente associadas ao oócito, e as células da granulosa murais, que revestem internamente a parede folicular. Apesar da origem comum desses dois tipos celulares, existem diferenças quanto à produção de transcritos e proteínas (Latham *et al.*, 1999). As células do cumulus são especializadas em oferecer suporte nutricional para o oócito, controlando seu crescimento e metabolismo (Haghighat e Van Winkle, 1990). Enquanto a função principal das células da granulosa murais é a produção de esteróides e a diferenciação em células luteínicas (Albertini *et al.*, 2001).

Para a produção de um oócito apto a ser fecundado e competente para gerar um embrião viável, os compartimentos germinativo e somático do folículo precisam responder a sinais endócrinos, parácrinos e autócrinos, assim como aos sinais gerados através das junções *gap* que ligam as células foliculares ao oócito (Eppig, 2001). Uma das estratégias de comunicação entre o oócito e as células somáticas são os processos citoplasmáticos transzonais (TZP), extensões das células da granulosa/cumulus que penetram através da zona pelúcida e atingem a membrana do oócito, formando as junções do tipo *gap*. Tais junções permitem que o oócito permaneça fisica e metabolicamente ligado às células somáticas vizinhas durante a maior parte da foliculogênese (Albertini *et al.*, 2001). Formadas por

proteínas da família das conexinas (Grazul-Bilska *et al.*, 1997), as junções gap entre o oócito e células do cumulus têm como principal componente a conexina 37 (Cx37), enquanto aquelas que conectam as células da ganulosa murais e as células do cumulus são constituídas principalmente pela Cx43 (Simon *et al.*, 1997; Gittens *et al.*, 2003). De maneira geral, as propriedades das junções *gap* permitem o transporte direto e bidirecional de moléculas de pequeno peso molecular, tais como íons, metabólitos, aminoácidos e pequenas moléculas de sinalização intracelular (AMPc, GMPc e IP3) das células do cumulus para o oócito (Buccione *et al.*, 1990a; Albertini *et al.*, 2001).

A comunicação entre o oócito e as células somáticas foliculares também ocorre por sinalização parácrina (revisado por Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008). Por meio de fatores de crescimento solúveis, o oócito modula o funcionamento e a diferenciação das células do cumulus e da granulosa de forma a controlar cuidadosamente o seu próprio microambiente e desenvolvimento (Eppig, 2001; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2004; McNatty *et al.*, 2004). Tem sido proposto que uma das principais funções dos FSOs durante a fase antral da foliculogênese é direcionar a diferenciação das células da granulosa em células do cumulus e manter seu distinto fenótipo e funções dentro do folículo (Eppig *et al.*, 1997; Li *et al.*, 2000). A manutenção deste fenótipo é dirigida através de uma ação bastante localizada dos FSOs dentro do folículo antral, na qual as células do cumulus são o alvo principal do oócito. Já as células da granulosa murais são menos influenciadas pelos FSOs, pois, ao contrário, elas seriam redirecionadas a funcionar como as células do cumulus (Hussein *et al.*, 2005).

As consequências da sinalização dos FSOs nas células do cumulus são numerosas e incluem: estímulo ao crescimento (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2006), prevenção da apoptose (Hussein *et al.*, 2005), inibição da luteinização (Eppig *et al.*, 1997; Li *et al.*, 2000), regulação do metabolismo energético (Sugiura *et al.*, 2005), biossíntese do colesterol (Su *et al.*, 2008) e a regulação da expansão das células do cumulus (Buccione *et al.*, 1990b). O oócito parece direcionar as células do cumulus a executar funções que ele próprio é incapaz de realizar, como por exemplo, a glicólise (Biggers *et al.*, 1967; Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2010). Assim, a capacidade do oócito em controlar tais funções nas células do cumulus provavelmente seja uma importante característica para a aquisição de sua competência para o desenvolvimento (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2011).

A identificação dos FSOs e a elucidação de seus alvos e mecanismos de ação são de extrema importância para a compreensão de como o oócito controla o desenvolvimento das células somáticas (Su *et al.*, 2009). Muitas pesquisas têm focado os membros da superfamília de fatores de crescimento transformante  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ), especialmente o GDF9 e a BMP15 como

constituintes chave dos FSOs (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2004, Juengel *et al.*, 2004, Shimasaki *et al.*, 2004). Tem sido demonstrado que o GDF9 e a BMP15 são importantes reguladores da proliferação, esteroidogênese, apoptose e expansão das células do cumulus e favorecem a competência do oócito para a fecundação e desenvolvimento embrionário (Eppig, 2001; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2004; Juengel *et al.*, 2004; Hussein *et al.*, 2006; Yeo *et al.*, 2008; Hussein *et al.*, 2011). Em adição, a expressão alterada ou bloqueada desses fatores causa danos severos à função ovariana e à fertilidade (McNatty *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2004).

Além dos TGF $\beta$ , outros FSOs têm sido reconhecidos como participantes do controle parácrino da diferenciação das células do cumulus, dentre os quais destaca-se a família dos FGFs. A expressão do FGF8, 10 e 17 nos oócitos de roedores e bovinos (Valve *et al*, 1997; Buratini *et al.*, 2005; Buratini *et al.*, 2007, Machado *et al.* 2009), bem como de seus receptores FGFR1B, FGFR2B, FGFR2C e FGFR3C nas células do cumulus (Cho *et al.*, 2008, Zhang *et al.*, 2010), sugere o envolvimento dos FGFs na sinalização parácrina entre estes dois tipos celulares. No decorrer desta revisão os FSOs, BMP15 e FGF10, serão abordados mais detalhadamente.

A melhor compreensão da comunicação bidirecional entre o oócito e as células somáticas foliculares pode ser utilizada para beneficiar as metodologias da MIV e, consequentemente, melhorar a produção embrionária após a fecundação e cultivo *in vitro*.

#### 2.2 Importância das células foliculares na maturação oocitária

A MIV é uma técnica de reprodução assistida em que oócitos imaturos coletados de folículos antrais são maturados *in vitro* para a posterior fecundação e produção embrionária (Hardy *et al.*, 2000). Apesar dos avanços no processo de produção *in vitro* de embriões bovinos, os resultados da MIV são inferiores quando comparados à maturação *in vivo* (Rizos *et al.*, 2002). Mesmo com esta limitação, o uso das técnicas de maturação e produção embrionária *in vitro* no setor da bovinocultura tem aumentado grandemente (Thibier, 2006), o que justifica o incentivo em melhorar a eficiência da MIV. Este incentivo se aplica também à reprodução humana. Na espécie humana uma grande vantagem da MIV em relação à técnica de FIV convencional é a redução do uso de hormônios estimulatórios, diminuindo os riscos de efeitos secundários adversos e os custos para as pacientes (Jurema e Nogueira, 2006). Porém, o sucesso da MIV em humanos é significantemente menor comparado com a FIV após protocolos hormonais que levam à maturação *in vivo* dos oócitos (Banwell e Tompson, 2008).

Este fator restringe o uso da MIV em humanos e justifica os estudos para o aprimoramento desta técnica (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008).

Tem sido postulado que a baixa competência de oócitos maturados in vitro decorre principalmente da remoção dos COCs do ambiente intra-folicular. Tal procedimento compromete a comunicação entre o oócito e as células somáticas, além de impossibilitar a ação de diversos fatores reguladores da maturação nuclear e citoplasmática que estão presentes no fluido folicular (Lonergan et al., 1994; Coticchio et al., 2004; Krisher, 2004). A maturação do oócito in vivo é um processo complexo, controlado pelas gonadotrofinas e peptídeos intra-foliculares. A ação de peptídeos intra-foliculares no processo de maturação oocitária tem sido amplamente reportada (Aktas et al., 1995; Tsafriri et al., 1996). É sabido que o ambiente folicular é responsável por manter o oócito em prófase I (estágio de vesícula germinativa) durante a foliculogênese, assim como pela retomada da meiose no oócito durante a maturação. Dentre os fatores envolvidos na regulação meiótica, destaca-se o AMP cíclico (AMPc), o qual pode ser sintetizado pelo próprio oócito ou também fornecido pelas células da granulosa murais e pelas células do cumulus através das junções gap. Altos níveis intraoocitários de AMPc mantem o oócito em vesícula germinativa através a supressão da atividade do fator promotor da maturação (MPF; Aktas et al., 1995; Tsafriri et al., 1996; Bilodeau-Goeseels, 2011). Em adição, as células somáticas do folículo também fornecem GMP cíclico (GMPc) para o oócito, o qual inibe a fosfodiesterase do tipo 3 (PDE3), uma enzima que degrada o AMPc (Tsafriri et al., 1996).

Além da influência dos peptídeos intra-foliculares, as células da teca e da granulosa são alvos das gonadotrofinas e mediam suas ações no controle da maturação do oócito (Feuerstein *et al.*, 2007). O pico pré-ovulatório de LH induz mudanças no folículo ovariano que desencadeiam a maturação do oócito, expansão das células do cumulus, ruptura da parede folicular e liberação do COC (revisado por Richards *et al.*, 2002). Apesar da reconhecida importância do LH, informações mais detalhadas sobre o exato mecanismo molecular envolvido na maturação ainda se fazem necessárias. Recentemente demonstrou-se que o pico pré-ovulatório de LH induz um rápido e transitório aumento na produção dos membros da família de fatores de crescimento epidermal (EGF)-*like* [ampiregulina (AREG), epiregulina (EREG) e betacelulina (BTC)] nas células somáticas do folículo (Park *et al.*, 2004). Os fatores de crescimento EGF-*like* ativam os receptores de EGF (EGFR) presentes nas células da granulosa e células do cumulus, desencadeando a fosforilação da ERK1/2, essencial para transmitir os sinais intracelulares que ativam a retomada da maturação meiótica do oócito e expansão das células do cumulus (Sela-Abramovich *et al.*, 2005; Fan *et al.*, 2009).

#### 2.3 Fatores EGF-like

A família de proteínas EGF-*like* inclui, entre outros, o fator de crescimento epidermal (EGF), o fator de crescimento transformante  $\alpha$  (TGF $\alpha$ ), o fator de crescimento semelhante ao EGF ligado a heparina (HB-EGF), a AREG, a EREG, a BTC e as neuregulinas (revisado por Conti *et al.*, 2006). Inicialmente, o EGF foi descrito como um potente indutor da expansão das células do cumulus em ratos (Dekel e Sherizly, 1985). Posteriormente, outros estudos demonstraram efeito positivo do EGF na MIV de COCs em ratos (Harper e Bracket, 1993; Lorenzo *et al.*, 1996), camundongos (Das *et al.*, 1992) e bovinos (Lonergan *et al.*, 1996; Rieger *et al.*, 1998). Sakaguchi *et al.* (2000) observaram uma aceleração da retomada da meiose em COCs bovinos cultivados na presença de EGF, o que não ocorreu em oócitos desnudos, sugerindo que o EGF participa do controle da maturação nuclear de forma indireta via células do cumulus. Desta forma, supõe-se que a expressão do EGFR nas células do cumulus de BGFR foi detectada por imunofluorescência e RT-PCR em células do cumulus de bovinos (Zhao *et al.*, 2005) caprinos (Gall *et al.*, 2004), suínos (Chen *et al.*, 2008), humanos (Maruo *et al.*, 1993) e ratos (Chabot *et al.*, 1986).

Além do EGF, outros membros da família EGF-like, como a AREG, EREG e BTC, têm sido estudados no contexto da maturação do COC. Como citado anteriormente, é conhecido que o pico de LH desencadeia a maturação do oócito e a expansão do cumulus (Richards et al., 2002). No entanto, este efeito do LH parece ser indireto, conforme indica o padrão de expressão de seu receptor (LHR). O LHR está expresso nas células da teca e nas células da granulosa murais, porém é ausente ou praticamente ausente nas células do cumulus e oócitos de folículos pré-ovulatórios de bovinos e camundongos (Peng et al., 1991; van Tol et al., 1996; Nogueira et al. 2007). Um grande avanço na compreensão desta questão ocorreu quando Park e colaboradores (2004) mostraram que o pico de LH induz a expressão dos fatores EGF-like (AREG, EREG e BTC) nas células da granulosa murais em decorrência da sinalização pelo LHR. Sendo assim, foi proposto um modelo de ação parácrina e autócrina dos fatores EGF-like como mediadores das ações do LH (Hsieh e Conti, 2005; Figura 1). Neste modelo, o LH interage com seu receptor nas células da granulosa murais de folículos pré-ovulatórios e ativa a cascata de sinalização AMPc/PKA (Freimann et al., 2004), estimulando a expressão do RNAm da AREG, EREG e BTC. Estes fatores são sintetizados como precursores transmembranicos e necessitam ser clivados pelos membros da família desintegrina e metaloproteinases (ADAMs) para serem liberados da superfície celular em sua forma ativa (Ben-Ami *et al.*, 2006). Os membros da família de proteases ADAMs são sugeridos como os principais reguladores da liberação proteolítica dos fatores EGF-*like* em formas solúveis. Em especial, a ADAM17 é comumente responsabilizada pela liberação da AREG, EREG, HB-EGF e TGF $\alpha$  em várias linhagens celulares distintas (Hsieh e Conti, 2005; Yamashita *et al.*, 2009). No entanto, outros estudos indicam que mais de uma ADAM participa da regulação do processamento proteolítico dos ligantes específicos do EGFR, como as ADAM 9, 10 e 12 (Hsieh e Conti, 2005).

Em continuidade ao modelo proposto, os fatores EGF-*like*, liberados como moléculas solúveis, ativam os EGFR nas células da granulosa e do cumulus e estimulam através da via de sinalização MAPK/ERK a retomada da meiose, maturação do oócito e expressão de genes promotores expansão das células do cumulus (Ashkenazi *et al.*, 2005; Conti *et al.*, 2006). A indução da retomada da meiose induzida pela ERK1/2 não está completamente caracterizada, mas, provavelmente, envolve a fosforilação da Cx43 estimulando o fechamento das junções *gap* com subsequente perda do efeito inibitório do AMPc e GMPc foliculares (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2011). Já a expansão das células do cumulus, também estimulada pelos fatores EGF-*like*, está associada à indução da expressão da ciclooxigenase 2 (COX2), da hialurona sintetase 2 (HAS2), da proteína indutora do fator de necrose tumoral 6 (TSG6) e da pentraxina 3 (PTX3), considerados genes críticos para o remodelamento da matriz extracelular nos COCs e para a ruptura do folículo *in vivo* (Park *et al.*, 2004; Ashkenazi *et al.*, 2005; Shimada *et al.*, 2006).



**Figura 1** – Modelo da regulação *in vivo* do sistema EFG-*like* pelo LH nas células da granulosa e nas células do cumulus, estimulando a retomada da meiose no oócito e a expansão do cumulus (adaptado de Hsieh e Conti, 2005).

Estudos sugerem que os fatores EGF-*like* sejam também mediadores das ações do FSH *in vitro*. Freimann e colaboradores (2004) mostraram que o FSH estimula a expressão da AREG e EREG em células da granulosa humanas após cultivo por 24 horas. Interessantemente, COCs de camundongos cultivados com FSH e expostos a anticorpo anti-EGFR ou a bloqueador do EGFR (AG1478) tiveram a retomada da meiose completamente inibida, corroborando a hipótese de que as ações do FSH são mediadas pelos fatores EGF-*like* (Downs e Chen, 2008). Este mesmo trabalho demonstrou ainda que o FSH induz acúmulo da proteína AREG nas células do cumulus. Contudo, não existem informações sobre o padrão temporal de expressão gênica dos fatores EGF-*like* ou sobre sua regulação pelo FSH nas células do cumulus durante a MIV de COCs bovinos.

2.3.1 Genes alvo dos fatores EGF-like na indução da expansão das células do cumulus

O processo de expansão do cumulus envolve a secreção de uma matriz rica em ácido hialurônico pelas células do cumulus e a expressão de uma variedade de proteínas necessárias para a síntese e estabilidade da matriz (Buccione *et al.*, 1990b; Hess *et al.*, 1999; Yamashita *et al.*, 2009). A HAS2, um gene alvo dos fatores EGF-*like*, é considerada a principal enzima responsável por controlar a síntese de ácido hialurônico durante a expansão do cumulus em mamíferos (Schoenfelder e Einspanier, 2003). O ácido hialurônico pode ser formado a partir de compostos como as hexosaminas, as glicosaminas e a glicose (Chen *et al.*, 1990). A estrutura e estabilidade deste grande e linear mucopolissacarídeo são garantidas pela interação com diferentes proteínas produzidas pelo próprio cumulus ou originárias do soro (Chen *et al.*, 1992). Tem sido sugerido que a síntese de ácido hialurônico e a mucificação do cumulus contribui para a penetração e fecundação dos oócitos pelos espermatozóides através da participação nos processos de capacitação espermática e/ou reação acrossomal (Slotte *et al.*, 1993; Gutnisky *et al.*, 2007).

A COX2 (ou prostaglandina sintetase 2; PTGS2), também considerada um gene alvo dos fatores EGF-*like*, é uma enzima responsável por controlar a síntese de prostaglandinas (PG), como a PGE2. A COX2 é produzida pelas células do cumulus e pelas células da granulosa murais e é necessária para a completa expansão do cumulus e para o processo de ovulação (Lim *et al.*, 1997). Em ovários de mamíferos duas isoformas da enzima COX já foram identificadas: COX1, que é expressa de forma constitutiva nas células da teca; e a COX2, cuja expressão é induzida pelo LH nas células da granulosa murais e nas células do cumulus (Ochsner *et al.*, 2003). Durante o período pré-ovulatório, a produção folicular de PGs derivadas da COX2 é crítica para a expansão do cumulus e maturação do oócito (Hizaki *et al.*, 1999). De fato, estudos prévios mostram uma função da PGE2 no estímulo da expansão do cumulus *in vitro* em camundongos e bovinos (Eppig, 1981; Calder *et al.*, 2001). Em adição, a PGE2 foi capaz de estimular a progressão do ciclo celular durante a maturação oocitária *in vitro* e o desenvolvimento embrionário inicial em bovinos (Nuttinck *et al.*, 2011). Em camundongos a diminuição da atividade da COX2 compromete a expansão do cumulus, a completa maturação do oócito e a ovulação (Lim *et al.*, 1997; Davis *et al.*, 1999).

Adicionalmente, o silenciamento da COX2 ou o comprometimento da sinalização das prostaglandinas prejudicou a expressão da TSG6 em camundongos e suínos (Oshsner *et al.*, 2003; Takahashi *et al.*, 2006; Yamashita *et al.*, 2011). A TSG6 é uma proteína de ligação ao ácido hialurônico que estabiliza a estrutura da hialurona na matriz do cumulus expandido (Richards, 2005). A TSG6 não somente se liga à hialurona como também forma um complexo estável com as cadeias pesadas do fator derivado do soro inibidor inter- $\alpha$ -tripsina (I $\alpha$ I) durante a expansão do COC. Assim, as cadeias pesadas tornam-se covalentemente ligadas à hialurona na matriz do cumulus e essas ligações contribuem para a estabilidade da matriz (Chen *et al.*, 1996; Fulop *et al.*, 2003; Figura 2). No ovário, o RNAm da TSG6 é rapidamente induzido nas células da granulosa e nas células do cumulus de folículos pré-ovulatórios após o pico de LH (Ochsner *et al.*, 2003). Camundongos com deficiência de TSG6 são incapazes de estruturar uma matriz extracelular rica em hialurona, provocando falha na expansão do cumulus e, consequentemente, infertilidade (Fulop *et al.*, 2003).

A PTX3, outro gene alvo dos fatores EGF-*like*, também é essencial para a estabilidade da matriz do cumulus. Esta proteína tem afinidade de ligação à TSG6, e esta interação parece contribuir na estruturação da matriz do cumulus (Richards, 2005). Em camundongos e humanos, o RNAm da PTX3 é estimulado nas células do cumulus nos momentos que precedem a ovulação (Varani *et al.*, 2002; Scarchilli *et al.*, 2007). Camundongos com deficiência de PTX3 apresentaram instabilidade na matriz expandida e infertilidade (Varani *et al.*, 2002; Scarchilli *et al.*, 2007).



**Figura 2** – Modelo esquemático para a função proposta da TSG6 na estabilização da matriz extracelular do cumulus. A TSG6 forma um complexo com as cadeias pesadas do fator derivado do soro inibidor inter- $\alpha$ -tripsina (HC-TSG6) que contribui para a estabilização da matriz como resultado de uma forte afinidade da TSG6 em se ligar ao ácido hialurônico (Fulop *et al.*, 2003).

#### 2.4 Fatores de crescimento secretados pelos oócitos

#### 2.4.1 FGF10

Em mamíferos, os FGFs compõem uma família de pelo menos 22 membros (Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Tais fatores apresentam padrões temporais e espaciais de expressão específicos e estão envolvidos na regulação de diversos processos biológicos como atividade mitogênica, quimiotática e angiogênica em diversos tipos de células e tecidos (Basilico e Moscatelli, 1992). Essas moléculas estão expressas em estágios iniciais e tardios do desenvolvimento embrionário e também em tecidos adultos, o que indica que elas atuam como fatores de crescimento e diferenciação celular durante toda a vida (Igarashi *et al.*, 1998).

Cinco genes distintos codificam receptores de alta afinidade que interagem com os membros da família FGF (FGFR1-5; Sleeman *et al.*, 2001; Kim *et al.*, 2001). Os genes FGFR1 a 4 codificam receptores do tipo tirosina-quinase localizados na membrana plasmática. Arranjos transcricionais alternativos ("alternative splicing") do FGFR1, FGFR2 e FGFR3 possibilitam a formação das isoformas funcionais ("B" e "C"), que apresentam diferentes graus de afinidade pelos diversos FGFs (Chellaiah *et al.*, 1994; Ornitz *et al.*, 1996).

Os FGFs são classificados em sete subfamílias de acordo com análises filogenéticas: sub-famílias do FGF1, FGF4, FGF7, FGF8, FGF9, iFGF e hFGF, (Itoh e Ornitz, 2004). O FGF10, também conhecido como KGF-II (fator de crescimento dos queratinócitos II), pertence à subfamília do FGF7 (FGF3, 7, 10 e 22), cujos membros interagem preferencialmente com dois receptores, o FGFR2B e o FGFR1B (Itoh e Ornitz, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2006). O FGF10 foi originalmente isolado do mesênquima pulmonar de ratos e é essencial para regulação da organogênese (Igarashi *et al.*, 1998), o que pode ser confirmado pela ausência completa de pulmões em camundongos nocaute para o FGF10 (Min *et al.*, 1998; Sekine *et al.*, 1999).

No que se refere à fisiologia reprodutiva, destaca-se a detecção da expressão do FGF10, juntamente com a do FGF7, no útero neonatal ovino. Acredita-se que ambos participem da regulação da morfogênese endometrial, onde o FGF10 atuaria como fator quimiotático direcionador do crescimento e ramificação glandular, e o FGF7 estimularia a proliferação de células epiteliais (Taylor *et al.*, 2001).

A expressão do FGF10 foi recentemente detectada em oócitos e células da teca de folículos antrais bovinos (Buratini *et al.*, 2007). Apesar da similaridade estrutural entre o FGF7 e o FGF10, seus padrões de expressão diferem no folículo, já que o FGF7 não é expresso em oócitos (Buratini *et al.*, 2007). A expressão do FGF10 mostrou-se diminuída em folículos saudáveis estrogênicos e o tratamento com FGF10 inibiu a produção de estradiol de células da granulosa (Buratini *et al.*, 2007). A detecção de receptores para o FGF10 nas células da granulosa murais (Berisha *et al.*, 2004) e do cumulus (Cho *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2010) condiz com a ação parácrina do FGF10, oriunda do oócito e das células da teca, com alvo nas células da granulosa murais e do cumulus.

Recentemente, Zhang e colaboradores (2010) demonstraram que a suplementação do meio de maturação com FGF10 aumenta a porcentagem de oócitos com extrusão do primeiro corpúsculo polar após a maturação, a expansão das células do cumulus e as taxas de desenvolvimento embrionário. Porém, os mecanismos que viabilizam tais efeitos estimulatórios do FGF10 ainda não foram elucidados. É provável que o FGF10 produzido pelo oócito atue nas células do cumulus de forma a melhorar a sua capacidade de controlar a maturação oocitária e o subsequente desenvolvimento embrionário inicial (Zhang *et al.*, 2010).

#### 2.4.2 Fatores de crescimento transformantes $\beta$ (TGF $\beta$ )

Os membros da superfamília dos TGF $\beta$  são considerados importantes peptídeos reguladores intraovarianos (Findlay *et al.*, 2002; Knight e Glister 2003; Juengel e McNatty, 2005). Dentre os membros desta superfamília, a BMP15 e o GDF9 têm concentrado a maior parte da atenção direcionada aos FSOs (Juengel *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008). Tais fatores parecem ser cruciais para o desenvolvimento folicular e ovulação, além de participarem da regulação parácrina da maturação oocitária e da diferenciação das células da granulosa e do cumulus (Juengel e McNatty, 2005; Su *et al.*, 2009). Tanto a BMP15 quanto o GDF9 exercem seus efeitos biológicos através da ligação a um receptor do tipo I, referido como um receptor ativina semelhante a kinase (ALK) e ao receptor de BMP do tipo II (BMPRII; Moore *et al.*, 2003; Mazerbourg *et al.*, 2004). A BMP15 age via BMPRII e ALK6 (também chamado receptor de BMP tipo 1B; BMPRIB) e ativa a fosforilação intracelular da SMAD1/5/8 (Moore *et al.*, 2003). Em contraste, o GDF9 se liga ao BMPRII e ALK5 (também chamado receptor TGF $\beta$  tipo I), levando à ativação das SMADs2/3 (Mazerbourg *et al.*, 2004). As SMADs fosforiladas se translocam para o núcleo onde interagem com reguladores transcricionais e induzem a expressão de genes alvo (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008).

Embora a expressão oocitária de BMP15 e GDF9 seja necessária para a fertilidade nas fêmeas (Dong *et al.*, 1996; Hanrahan *et al.*, 2004), existem notáveis variações entre as espécies quanto ao requerimento destes fatores. Enquanto em ovinos a expressão de ambos os fatores é fundamental para a foliculogênese normal (Hanrahan *et al.*, 2004), em camundongos, uma deleção específica da BMP15 não provoca defeitos na foliculogênese. No entanto, esses camundongos exibem defeitos no processo de ovulação, bem como na qualidade dos oócitos, diminuindo assim as taxas de fecundação (Yan *et al.*, 2001). Além disso, a expressão em heterozigose da BMP15 e do GDF9 causa um aumento na taxa de ovulação e na fertilidade em ovelhas (Hanrahan *et al.*, 2004; Juengel e McNatty, 2005), embora não afete a fertilidade em roedores (Dong *et al.*, 1996; Yan *et al.*, 2001).

Em adição, a BMP15 e o GDF9 aumentam a competência para o desenvolvimento dos COCs (Juengel *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008). A administração de BMP15 ou GDF9 durante a MIV dos COCs estimulou a expansão do cumulus em camundongos e bovinos (Elvin *et al.*, 1999; Leyens *et al.*, 2004; Dragovic *et al.*, 2005; Yoshino *et al.*, 2006) e a produção de blastocistos em bovinos (Hussein *et al.*, 2006, 2011). Além disso, a adição de GDF9 no meio de maturação aumentou significantemente a taxa de sobrevivência após a transferência de blastocistos em camundongos (Yeo *et al.*, 2008).
Conforme já mencionado, Sugiura e colaboladores (2007) demostraram ações sinérgicas entre a BMP15 e o FGF8 no controle do metabolismo energético das células do cumulus em camundongos. Contudo, ainda são necessários estudos sobre a interação entre FGFs e a BMP15 no controle de outros processos pertinentes à maturação do COC. Portanto, a avaliação dos efeitos da associação do FGF10 com a BMP15 sobre a expansão das células do cumulus e controle transcricional de genes envolvidos em tal processo foi inserida neste trabalho.

#### **3 REFERÊNCIAS BIBLIOGRÁFICAS**

- Aktas H, Wheeler MB, Rosenkrans CF, First NL, Leibfried Rutledge ML (1995) Maintenance of bovine oocytes in prophase of meiosis I by high [cAMP]i. J Reprod Fertil 105, 227– 235.
- Albertini DF, Combelles CMH, Benecchi E, Carabatsos MJ (2001) Cellular basis for paracrine regulation of ovarian follicle development. Reproduction **121**, 647-653.
- Ashkenazi H, Cao X, Motola S, Popliker M, Conti M, Tsafriri A (2005) Epidermal growth factor family members: endogenous mediators of the ovulatory response. Endocrinology 146, 77-84.
- Banwell KM, Thompson JG (2008) In vitro maturation of Mammalian oocytes: outcomes and consequences. Semin Reprod Med **26**, 162–174.
- Basilico C, Moscatelli D (1992) The FGF family of growth factors and oncogenes. Adv Cancer Res **59**, 115-165.
- Ben-Ami I, Freimann S, Armon L, Dantes A, Ron-El R, Amsterdam A (2006). Novel function of ovarian growth factors: combined studies by DNA microarray, biochemical and physiological approaches. Mol Hum Reprod 12, 413–419.
- Berisha B, Sinowatz F, Schams D (2004) Expression and localization of fibroblast growth factor family members during the final growth of bovine ovarian follicles. Mol Reprod Dev **67**, 162-171.
- Biggers JD, Whittingham DG, Donahue RP (1967) The pattern of energy metabolism in the mouse oocyte and zygote. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA **58**, 560-567.
- Bilodeau-Goeseels S (2011) Cows are not mice: The role of cyclic AMP, phosphodiesterases, and adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase in the maintenance of meiotic arrest in bovine oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev **78**, 734–743.
- Buccione R, Schroeder AC, Eppig JJ (1990a) Interactions between somatic cells and germ cells throughout mammalian oogenesis. Biol Reprod **43**, 543-547.
- Buccione R, Vanderhyden BC, Caron PJ, Eppig JJ (1990b) FSH-induced expansion of the mouse cumulus oophorus in vitro is dependent upon a specific factor(s) secreted by the oocyte. Dev Biol **138**, 16–25.
- Buratini Jr J, Teixeira AB, Costa IB, Glapinski VF, Pinto MGL, Giometti IC, Barros CM, Cao M, Nicola ES, Price CA (2005) Expression of fibroblast growth factor-8 and regulation of cognate receptors, fibroblast growth factor receptor-3c and -4, in bovine antral follicles. Reproduction 130, 343-350.

- Buratini Jr J, Pinto MG, Castilho AC, Amorim RL, Giometti IC, Portela VM, Nicola ES, Price CA (2007) Expression and function of fibroblast growth factor 10 and its receptor, fibroblast growth factor receptor 2B, in bovine follicles. Biol Reprod **77**, 743–750.
- Calder MD, Caveney AN, Westhusin ME, Watson AJ (2001) Cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) receptor messenger RNAs are affected by bovine oocyte maturation time and cumulus-oocyte complex quality, and PGE2 induces moderate expansion of the bovine cumulus in vitro. Biol Reprod **65**, 135–140.
- Chabot JG, St-Arnaud R, Walker P, Pelletier G (1986) Distribution of epidermal growth factor receptors in the rat ovary. Mol Cell Endocrinol **44**, 99-108.
- Chellaiah AT, McEwen DG, Wernern S, Xu J, Ornitz DM (1994) Fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR) 3: Alternative splicing in immunoglobulin-like domain III creates a receptor highly specific for acidic FGF/FGF-1. J Biol Chem 269, 11620-11627.
- Chen L, Wert SE, Hendrix EM, Russell PT, Cannon Me Larsen WJ 1990 Hyaluronic acid synthesis and gap junction endocytosis are necessary for normal expansion of the cumulus mass. Mol Reprod Dev 26, 236–247.
- Chen L, Mao SJT, Larsen WJ (1992) Identification of a factor in fetal bovine serum that stabilizes the cumulus extracellular matrix: a role for a member of the inter-α-trypsin inhibitor family. J Biol Chem **267**, 12380-12386.
- Chen L, Zhang H, Powers RW, Russell PT, Larsen WJ (1996) Covalent linkage between proteins of the inter-a-inhibitor family and hyaluronic acid is mediated by a factor produced by granulosa cells. J Biol Chem **271**, 19409–19414.
- Chen X, Zhou B, Yan J, Xu B, Tai P, Li J, Peng S, Zhang M, Xia G (2008) Epidermal growth factor receptor activation by protein kinase C is necessary for FSH-induced meiotic resumption in porcine cumulus–oocyte complexes. J Endocrinol **197**, 409–419.
- Cho JH, Itoh T, Sendai Y, Hoshi H (2008) Fibroblast growth factor 7 stimulates in vitro growth of oocytes originating from bovine early antral follicles. Mol Reprod Dev **75**, 1736–1743.
- Conti M, Hsieh M, Park JY, Su YQ (2006) Role of the epidermal growth factor network in ovarian follicles. Mol Endocrinol **20**, 715–723.
- Coticchio G, Sereni E, Serrao L, Mazzone S, Iadarola I, Borini A (2004) What criteria for the definition of oocyte quality. Ann N Y Acad Sci **1034**, 132-44.
- Das K, Phipps WR, Hensleigh HC, Tagatz GE (1992) Epidermal growth factor in human follicular fluid stimulates mouse oocyte maturation in vitro. Fertil Steril **57**, 895-901.

- Davis BJ, Lennard DE, Lee CA, Tiano HF, Morham SG, Wetsel WC, Langenbach R (1999) Anovulation in cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice is restored by prostaglandin E2 and interleukin-1b. Endocrinology **140**, 2685-2695.
- Dekel N, Sherizly I (1985) Epidermal growth factor induces maturation of rat follicleenclosed oocytes. Endocrinology **116**, 406-409.
- Dong J, Albertini DF, Nishimori K, Kumar TR, Lu N, Matzuk MM (1996) Growth differentiation factor-9 is required during early ovarian folliculogenesis. Nature 383, 531-535.
- Downs SM, Chen J (2008) EGF-like peptides mediate FSH-induced maturation of cumulus cell-enclosed mouse oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev **75**, 105–114.
- Dragovic RA, Ritter LJ, Schulz SJ, Amato F, Armstrong DT, Gilchrist RB (2005) Role of oocyte-secreted growth differentiation factor 9 in the regulation of mouse cumulus expansion. Endocrinology 146, 2798-2806.
- Elvin JA, Clark AT, Wang P, Wolfman NM, Matzuk MM (1999) Paracrine actions of growth differentiation factor-9 in the mammalian ovary. Mol Endocrinol **13**, 1035-1048.
- Eppig JJ (1981) Prostaglandin E2 stimulates cumulus expansion and hyaluronic acid synthesis by cumuli oophori isolated from mice. Biol Reprod **25**, 191–195.
- Eppig JJ, Wigglesworth K, Pendola F, Hirao Y (1997) Murine oocytes suppress expression of luteinizing hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid by granulosa cells. Biol Reprod 56, 976–984.
- Eppig JJ (2001) Oocyte control of ovarian follicular development and function in mammals. Reproduction **122**, 829-838.
- Fair T (2003). Follicular oocyte growth and acquisition of developmental competence. Anim Reprod Sci 78, 203-216.
- Fan HY, Liu Z, Shimada M, Sterneck E, Johnson PF, Hedrick SM, Richards JS (2009) MAPK3/1 (ERK1/2) in ovarian granulosa cells are essential for female fertility. Science 324, 938-941.
- Feuerstein P, Cadoret V, Dalbies-Tran R, Guerif F, Bidault R, Royere D (2007) Gene expression in human cumulus cells: one approach to oocyte competence. Hum Reprod 22, 3069-3077.
- Findlay JK, Drummond AE, Dyson ML, Baillie AJ, Robertson DM, Ethier JF (2002) Recruitment and development of the follicle; the roles of the transforming growth factorbeta superfamily. Mol Cel Endocrin 191, 35–43.

- Freimann S, Ben-Ami I, Dantes A, Ron-El R, Amsterdam A (2004) EGF-like factor epiregulin and amphiregulin expression is regulated by gonadotropins/cAMP in human ovarian follicular cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **324**, 829–834.
- Fulop C, Szántó S, Mukhopadhyay D, Bárdos T, Kamath RV, Rugg MS, Day AJ, Salustri A, Hascall VC, Glant TT, Mikecz K (2003) Impaired cumulus mucification and female sterility in tumor necrosis factorinduced protein-6 deficient mice. Development 130, 2253-2261.
- Gall L, Chene N, Dahirel M, Ruffini S, Boulesteix C (2004) Expression of epidermal growth factor receptor in the goat cumulus-oocyte complex. Mol Reprod Dev **67**, 439-445.
- Gilchrist RB, Ritter LJ, Armstrong DT (2004) Oocyte-somatic cell interactions during follicle development in mammals. Anim Reprod Sci **82-83**, 431-446.
- Gilchrist RB, Ritter LJ, Myllymaa S, Kaivo-Oja N, Dragovic RA, Hickey TE, Ritvos O, Mottershead DG (2006) Molecular basis of oocyte-paracrine signaling that promotes granulosa cell proliferation. J Cell Sci 119, 3811-3821.
- Gilchrist RB, Lane M, Thompson JG (2008) Oocyte-secreted factors: regulators of cumulus cell function and oocyte quality. Hum Reprod Update **14**, 159-177.
- Gilchrist RB (2011) Recent insights into oocyte-follicle cell interactions provide opportunities for the development of new approaches to in vitro maturation. Reprod Fertil Dev 23, 23-31.
- Gittens JEI, Mhawi AA, Lidington D, Ouellette Y, Kidder GM (2003) Functional analysis of gap junctions in ovarian granulosa cells: distinct role for connexin43 in early stages of folliculogenesis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 284, C880-C887.
- Grazul-Bilska AT, Reynolds LP, Redmer DA (1997) Gap junctions in the ovaries. Biol Reprod **57**, 947–957.
- Gutnisky C, Dalvit GC, Pintos LN, Thompson JG, Beconi MT, Cetica PD (2007) Influence of hyaluronic acid synthesis and cumulus mucification on bovine oocyte in vitro maturation, fertilisation and embryo development. Reprod Fertil Dev 19, 488-497.
- Haghighat N, van Winkle LJ (1990) Developmental change in follicular cell-enhanced amino acid uptake into mouse oocytes that depends on intact gap junctions and transport system Gly. J Exp Zool 253, 71–82.
- Hanrahan JP, Gregan SM, Mulsant P, Mullen M, Davis GH, Powell R, Galloway SM (2004) Mutations in the genes for oocyte-derived growth factors GDF9 and BMP15 are associated with both increased ovulation rate and sterility in Cambridge and Belclare sheep (Ovis aries). Biol Reprod 70, 900-909.

- Hardy K, Wright CS, Franks S, Winston RML (2000) In vitro maturation of oocytes. Br Med Bull **56**, 588-602.
- Harper KM, Brackett BG (1993) Bovine blastocyst development after follicle-stimulating hormone and platelet-derived growth factor treatment for oocyte maturation in vitro. Zygote 1, 27-34.
- Hess KA, Chen L, Larsen WJ (1999) Inter-alpha-inhibitor binding to hyaluronan in the cumulus extracellular matrix is required for optimal ovulation and development of mouse oocytes. Biol Reprod **61**, 436-443.
- Hizaki H, Segi E, Sugimoto Y, Hirose M, Saji T, Ushikubi F, Matsuoka T, Noda Y, Tanaka T, Yoshida N (1999) Abortive expansion of the cumulus and impaired fertility in mice lacking the prostaglandin E receptor subtype EP2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 10501-10506.
- Hsieh M, Conti M (2005) G-protein-coupled receptor signaling and the EGF network in endocrine systems. Trends Endocrinol Metab **16**, 320-326.
- Hussein TS, Froiland DA, Amato F, Thompson JG, Gilchrist RB (2005) Oocytes prevent cumulus cell apoptosis by maintaining a morphogenic paracrine gradient of bone morphogenetic proteins. J Cell Sci **118**, 5257–5268.
- Hussein TS, Thompson JG, Gilchrist RB (2006) Oocyte-secreted factors enhance oocyte developmental competence. Dev Biol **296**, 514–521.
- Hussein TS, Sutton-McDowall ML, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2011) Temporal effects of exogenous oocyte-secreted factors on bovine oocyte developmental competence during IVM. Reprod Fertil Dev 23, 576–584.
- Igarashi M, Finch PW, Aronson SA (1998) Characterization of recombinant human fibroblast growth factor (FGF-10) reveals functional similarities with keratinocyte growth factor (FGF-7). J Biol Chem **273**, 13230-13235.
- Itoh N, Ornitz DM (2004) Evolution of the FGF and FGFR gene families. Trends Genet **20**, 563-569.
- Juengel JL, Bodensteiner KJ, Heath DA, Hudsona NL, Moeller CL, Smith P, Galloway SM, Davis GH, Sawyer HR, McNatty KP (2004) Physiology of GDF9 and BMP15 signalling molecules. Anim Reprod Sci 82–83, 447–460.
- Juengel JL, McNatty KP (2005) The role of proteins of the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily in the intraovarian regulation of follicular development. Hum Reprod Update 11, 143-60.

- Jurema MW, Nogueira D (2006) In vitro maturation of human oocytes for assisted reproduction. Fertil Steril **86**, 1277-1291.
- Kim I, Moon S, Yu K, Kim U, Koh GY (2001) A novel fibroblast growth factor receptor-5 preferentially expressed in the pancreas. Biochim Biophys Acta **1518**, 152-156.
- Knight PG, Glister C (2003) Local roles of TGF-beta superfamily members in the control of ovarian follicle development. Anim Reprod Sci **78**, 165–183.
- Krisher RL (2004) The effect of oocyte quality on development. J Anim Sci 82, 14-23.
- Latham KE, Bautista DM, Hirao Y, O'Brien MJ, Eppig JJ (1999) Comparison of protein synthesis patterns in mouse cumulus cells and mural granulosa cells: effects of folliclestimulating hormone and insulin of granulosa cell differentiation in vitro. Biol Reprod 61, 482-492.
- Leyens G, Verhaeghe B, Landtmeters M, Marchandise J, Knoops B, Donnay I (2004) Peroxiredoxin 6 is upregulated in bovine oocytes and cumulus cells during in vitro maturation: Role of intercellular communication. Biol Reprod **71**, 1646–1651.
- Li R, Norman RJ, Armstrong DT, Gilchrist RB (2000) Oocyte-secreted factor(s) determine functional differences between bovine mural granulosa cells and cumulus cells. Biol Reprod **63**, 839–845.
- Lim H, Paria BC, Das SK, Dinchuk JE, Langenbach R, Trzaskos JM, Dey SK (1997) Multiple female reproductive failures in cyclooxygenase 2-deficient mice. Cell 91, 197-208.
- Lonergan P, Monaghan P, Rizos D, Boland MP, Gordon I (1994) Effect of follicle size on bovine oocyte quality and developmental competence following maturation, fertilization, and culture in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev 37, 48-53.
- Lonergan P, Carolan C, van Langendonckt A, Donnay I, Khatir H, Mermillod P (1996) Role of epidermal growth factor in bovine oocyte maturation and preimplantation embryo development in vitro. Biol Reprod **54**, 1420-1429.
- Lorenzo PL, Rebollar PG, Illera MJ, Illera JC, Illera M, Alvariño JM (1996) Stimulatory effect of insulin-like growth factor I and epidermal growth factor on the maturation of rabbit oocytes in vitro. J Reprod Fertil **107**, 109-117.
- Machado MF, Portela VM, Price CA, Costa IB, Ripamonte P, Amorim RL, Buratini Jr, J (2009) Regulation and action of fibroblast growth factor 17 in bovine follicles. J Endocrinol **202**, 347–353.

- Maruo T, Ladines-Llave CA, Samoto T, Matsuo H, Manalo AS, Ito H, Mochizuki M (1993) Expression of epidermal growth factor and its receptor in the human ovary during follicular growth and regression. Endocrinology 132, 924-31.
- Mazerbourg S, Klein C, Roh J, Kaivo-Oja N, Mottershead DG, Korchynskyi O, Ritvos O, Hsueh AJ (2004) Growth differentiation factor-9 (GDF-9) signaling is mediated by the type I receptor, activin receptor-like kinase 5. Mol Endocrinol **18**,653-665.
- McNatty KP, Moore LG, Hudson NL, Quirke LD, Lawrence SB, Reader K, Hanrahan JP, Smith P, Groome NP, Laitinen M, Ritvos O, Juengel JL (2004). The oocyte and its role in regulating ovulation rate: a new paradigm in reproductive biology. Reproduction **128**, 379-386.
- Min H, Danilenko DM, Scully SA, Bolon B, Ring BD, Tarpley JE, Derose M, Simonett WS (1998) FGF-10 is required for both limb and lung development and exhibits striking functional similarities to Drosophila branches. Genes Dev **12**, 3156-3161.
- Moore RK, Otsuka F, Shimasaki S (2003) Molecular basis of bone morphogenetic protein-15 signaling in granulosa cells. J Biol Chem **278**, 304-310.
- Nogueira MFG, Buratini Jr J, Price CA, Castilho ACS, Pinto MGL, Barros CM (2007) Expression of LH receptor mRNA splice variants in bovine granulosa cells: changes with follicle size and regulation by FSH in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev **74**, 680–686.
- Nuttinck F, Gall L, Ruffini S, Laffont L, Clement L, Reinaud P, Adenot P, Grimard B, Charpigny G, Guienne BML (2011) PTGS2-related PGE2 affects oocyte MAPK phosphorylation and meiosis progression in cattle: late effects on early embryonic development. Biol Reprod 84, 1248–1257.
- Ochsner SA, Russell DL, Day AJ, Breyer RM, Richards JS (2003) Decreased expression of tumor necrosis factor-α-stimulated gene 6 in cumulus cells of the cyclooxygenase-2 and EP2 null mice. Endocrinology **144**, 1008–1019.
- Ornitz DM, Xu J, Colvin JS, McEwen DG, Macarthur GA, Coulir F, Gao G, Goldfarb M (1996) Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. J Biol Chem 271, 15292-15297.
- Park JY, Su YQ, Ariga M, Law E, Jin SL, Conti M (2004) EGF-like growth factors as mediators of LH action in the ovulatory follicle. Science **303**, 682-684.
- Peng XR, Hseuh AJ, Lapolt PS, Bjersing L, Ny T (1991) Localization of luteinizing hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid expression in ovarian cell lysates during follicular development and ovulation. Endocrinology **129**, 3200-3207.

- Richards JS, Russell DL, Ochsner S, Espey LL (2002) Ovulation: New dimensions and new regulators of the inflammatory-like response. Annu Rev Physiol **64**, 69–92.
- Richards JS (2005) Ovulation: New factors that prepare the oocyte for fertilization. Mol Cell Endocrinol **234**, 75-79.
- Rieger D, Luciano AM, Modina S, Pocar P, Lauria A, Gandolfi F (1998) The effects of epidermal growth factor and insulin-like growth factor I on the metabolic activity, nuclear maturation and subsequent development of cattle oocytes in vitro. J Reprod Fertil 112, 123-130.
- Rizos D, Lonergan P, Ward F, Duffy P, Boland MP (2002) Consequences of bovine oocyte maturation, fertilization or early embryo development in vitro versus in vivo: implication for blastocyst yield and blastocyst quality. Mol Reprod Dev 61, 234-248.
- Sakaguchi M, Dominko T, Leibfried-Rutledge ML, Nagai T, First NL (2000) A combination of EGF and IGF-I accelerates the progression of meiosis in bovine follicular oocytes in vitro and fetal calf serum neutralizes the acceleration effect. Theriogenology 54, 1327-1342.
- Scarchilli L, Camaioni A, Bottazzi B, Negri V, Doni A, Deban AB, Salvatori G, Mantovani A, Siracusa G, Salustri A (2007) PTX3 interacts with inter-α-trypsin inhibitor. J Biol Chem **282**, 30161-30170.
- Schoenfelder M, Einspanier R (2003) Expression of hyaluronan synthases and corresponding hyaluronan receptors is differentially regulated during oocyte maturation in cattle. Biol Reprod 69, 269-277.
- Sekine K, Ohuchi H, Fujiwara M, Yamasaki M, Yoshizawa T, Sato T, Yagishita N, Matsui D, Koga Y, Itoh N, Kato S (1999) FGF-10 is essential for limb and lund formation. Nat Gen 21, 138-141.
- Sela-Abramovich S, Chorev E, Galiani D, Dekel N (2005) Mitogen-activated protein kinase mediates luteinizing hormone-induced breakdown of communication and oocyte maturation in rat ovarian follicles. Endocrinology **146**, 1236–1244.
- Shimada M, Hernandez-Gonzalez I, Gonzalez-Robayna I, Richards JS (2006) Paracrine and autocrine regulation of epidermal growth factor-like factors in cumulus oocyte complexes and granulosa cells: key roles for prostaglandin synthase 2 and progesterone receptor. Mol Endocrinol 20, 1352–1365.
- Shimasaki S, Moore RK, Otsuka F, Erickson GF (2004) The bone morphogenetic protein system in mammalian reproduction. Endocr Rev **25**, 72–101.

- Simon AM, Goodenough DA, Li E, Paul DL (1997) Female infertility in mice lacking connexin 37. Nature **385**, 525-529.
- Sleeman M, Fraser J, McDonald M, Yuan S, White D, Grandison P, Kumble K, Watson JD, Murison JG (2001) Identification of a new fibroblast growth factor receptor, FGFR-5. Gene 271, 171-182.
- Slotte H, Akerlöf E, Pousette A (1993) Separation of human spermatozoa with hyaluronic acid induces, and Percoll inhibits, the acrosome reaction. Int J Androl **16**, 349-354.
- Su YQ, Sugiura K, Wigglesworth K, O'Brien MJ, Affourtit JP, Pangas SA, Matzuk MM, Eppig JJ (2008) Oocyte regulation of metabolic cooperativity between mouse cumulus cells and oocytes: BMP15 and GDF9 control cholesterol biosynthesis in cumulus cells. Development 135, 111–121.
- Su YQ, Sugiura K, Eppig JJ (2009) Mouse oocyte control of granulosa cell development and function: Paracrine regulation of cumulus cell metabolism. Semin Reprod Med 27, 32– 42.
- Sugiura K, Pendola FL, Eppig JJ (2005) Oocyte control of metabolic cooperativity between oocytes and companion granulosa cells: energy metabolism. Dev Biol **279**, 20–30.
- Sugiura K, Su YQ, Diaz FJ, Pangas SA, Sharma S, Wigglesworth K, O'Brien MJ, Matzuk MM, Shimasaki S, Eppig JJ (2007) Oocyte-derived BMP15 and FGFs cooperate to promote glycolysis in cumulus cells. Development 134, 2593–2603.
- Sutton-McDowall ML, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2010) The pivotal role of glucose metabolism in determining oocyte developmental competence. Reproduction **139**, 1-12.
- Takahashi T, Morrow JD, Wang H, Dey SK (2006) Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostaglandin E2 directs oocyte maturation by differentially influencing multiple signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 281, 37117–37129.
- Tanghe S, Soon AV, Nauwynck H, Coryn M, de Kruif A (2002) Functions of the cumulus oophorus during oocyte maturation, ovulation e fertilization. Mol Reprod Dev 61, 414-424.
- Taylor KM, Chen C, Gray CA, Bazer FW, Spencer TE (2001) Expression of messenger ribonucleic acids for fibroblast growth factors 7 and 10, and insulin-like growth factors and their receptors in the neonatal ovine uterus. Biol Reprod **64**, 1236-46.
- Thibier M (2006) Transfers of both in vivo-derived and in vitro-produced embryos in cattle still on the rise and contrasted trends in other species in 2005. International Embryo Transfer Society Newsletter **24**, 12–18.

- Tsafriri A, Chun SY, Zhang R, Hsueh AJ, Conti M (1996) Oocyte maturation involves compartmentalization and opposing changes of cAMP levels in follicular somatic and germ cells: studies using selective phosphodiesterase inhibitors. Dev Biol **178**, 393–402.
- Valve E, Penttila TL, Paranko J, Härkönen P (1997) FGF-8 is expressed during specific phases of rodent oocyte and spermatogonium development. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 232, 173-177.
- van de Leemput EE, Vos PLAM, Zeinstra EC, Bevers MM, van de Weijden GC, Dielemana SJ (1999) Improvement of in vitro embryo development using in vivo matured oocytes from heifers treated for superovulation with a controlled preovulatory LH surge. Theriogenology **52**, 335-349.
- van Tol HTA, van Eijk MJT, Mummery CL, van den Hurk R, Bevers MM (1996) Influence of FSH and hCG on the resumption of meiosis of bovine oocytes surrounded by cumulus cells connected to membrane granulosa. Mol Reprod Dev **45**, 218–224.
- Varani S, Elvin JA, Yan C, Demayo J, Demayo FJ, Horton HF, Byrne MC, Matzuk MM (2002) Knockout of pentraxin 3, a downstream target of growth differentiation factor-9, causes female subfertility. Mol Endocrinol 16, 1154–1167.
- Yamashita Y, Hishinuma M, Shimada M (2009) Activation of PKA, p38 MAPK and ERK1/2 by gonadotropins in cumulus cells is critical for induction of EGF-like factor and TACE/ADAM17 gene expression during in vitro maturation of porcine COCs. J Ovarian Res 2, 1-20.
- Yamashita Y, Okamoto M, Kawashima I, Okazaki T, Nishimura R, Gunji Y, Hishinuma M, Shimada M (2011) The positive feedback loop between prostaglandin E2 and EGF-like factors is essential for the sustainable activation of MAPK3/1 in cumulus cells during in vitro maturation of porcine cumulus-oocyte complexes. Biol Reprod **85**, 1073-1072.
- Yan C, Wang P, Demayo J, Demayo FJ, Elvin JA, Carino C, Prasad SV, Skinner SS, Dunbar BS, Dube JL, Celeste AJ, Matzuk MM (2001) Synergistic roles of bone morphogenetic protein 15 and growth differentiation factor 9 in ovarian function. Mol Endocrinology 15, 854-866.
- Yeo CX, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG, Lane M (2008) Exogenous growth differentiation factor 9 in oocyte maturation media enhances subsequent embryo development and fetal viability in mice. Hum Reprod 23, 67-73.
- Yoshino O, McMahon HE, Sharma S, Shimasaki S (2006) A unique preovulatory expression pattern plays a key role in the physiological functions of BMP-15 in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 10678–10683.

- Zhang X, Ibrahimi OA, Olsen SK, Umemori H, Mohammadi M, Ornitz DM (2006) Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. The complete mammalian FGF family. J Biol Chem 281, 15694–15700.
- Zhang K, Hansen PJ, Ealy AD (2010) Fibroblast growth factor 10 enhances bovine oocyte maturation and developmental competence in vitro. Reproduction **140**, 815–826.
- Zhao Z, Garbett D, Hill JL, Gross DJ (2005) Epidermal growth factor receptor downregulation in cultured bovine cumulus cells: reconstitution of calcium signaling and stimulated membrane permeabilization. Reproduction **130**, 517-528.

## **CAPÍTULO 2**

# BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEIN 15 (BMP15) AND FIBROBLAST GROWTH FACTOR 10 (FGF10) ENHANCE CUMULUS EXPANSION AND DIFFERENTLY REGULATE GENE EXPRESSION IN BOVINE CUMULUS CELLS

O presente artigo foi submetido para publicação no periódico *Fertility and Sterility* e encontra-se de acordo com as normas de submissão exigidas pelo periódico, exceto a apresentação das referências bibliográficas.

# Running Title: BMP15 & FGF10 enhance cumulus expansion

Bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) and fibroblast growth factor 10 (FGF10) enhance cumulus expansion and differently regulate gene expression in bovine cumulus cells

Ester Siqueira Caixeta, M.S.c.,<sup>a</sup> Christopher Price, Ph.D.,<sup>b</sup> Mariana Fernandes Machado, M.S.c.,<sup>a</sup> Paula Fernanda Lima, V.M.D.,<sup>c</sup> José Buratini Jr., Ph.D.<sup>d</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Departamento de Farmacologia and <sup>d</sup> Departamento de Fisiologia, Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Estadual Paulista, Rubião Junior, Botucatu, São Paulo, 18618-970, Brazil

<sup>b</sup> Centre de Recherche en Reproduction Animale, Faculté de Médecine Vétérinaire, Université de Montréal, St-Hyacinthe, Quebec J2S 7C6, Canada

<sup>c</sup> Departamento de Reprodução Animal, Faculdade de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, Universidade Estadual Paulista, Botucatu, São Paulo, 18618-970, Brazil

Correspondence: José Buratini Jr, Departamento de Fisiologia, IB, Universidade Estadual Paulista, Rubião Junior, Botucatu, SP, Brazil, 18618-970 Telephone/Fax: (55) 14.38116251. E-mail: <u>buratini@ibb.unesp.br</u>

### FUNDING

This work was supported by the "Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP)" and the "Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq)", Brazil. **Capsule:** Using a bovine model of *in vitro* oocyte maturation, we demonstrate that BMP15 enhances cumulus expansion by increasing expression of cumulus EGF-like ligands, whereas FGF10 does so by acting upon COX2.

#### ABSTRACT

Oocyte secreted factors (OSFs) regulate differentiation of cumulus cells and thus are of pivotal relevance for fertility. Bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) and fibroblast growth factor 10 (FGF10) are OSFs and enhance oocyte competence by unknown mechanisms. We tested the hypothesis that BMP15 and FGF10, alone or in synergism, enhance cumulus expansion in cattle, a valuable model for the investigation of human reproductive biology. BMP15 and FGF10 alone increased the percentage of fully expanded cumulus-oocyte complexes, but in combination did not further augment it. We then assessed the effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on mRNA expression of a variety of genes that regulate cumulus expansion (e.g., AREG, EREG, BTC, EGFR, ADAM10, ADAM17, COX2, HAS2, PTX3 and TSG6), as well as of themselves and their receptors in cumulus cells. The expression patterns of cumulus regulating genes were assessed during in vitro maturation (IVM), and with the exception of BTC mRNA, which levels decreased with time in culture, abundance of all transcripts was up-regulated during IVM. BMP15 increased mRNA expression of ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG, EREG, HAS2 and FGFR1B at 12 hours of culture, and of COX2, PTX3, TSG6, BMPRII and ALK6 at 22 hours of culture. FGF10 did not alter the expression of EGF-like factors, OSFs or receptors, but enhanced mRNA expression of COX2 at 4 hours, PTX3 at 12 hours, and TSG6 at 22 hours. This study provides evidence that BMP15 and FGF10 enhance cumulus expansion differently, the first acting upon ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG and EREG, and the second on downstream genes, particularly COX2.

Key words: BMP15 / cumulus expansion / FGF10 / EGF-like ligands / COX2

#### **INTRODUCTION**

A potentially key component of assisted reproduction is *in vitro* maturation (IVM) of cumulus-oocyte complexes (COC), but this technique has poor success rates in humans compared with other species such as cattle (Gilchrist et al., 2008). Clearly, more detailed information is required on the cascade of molecular events that lead to resumption of meiosis and expansion of the COC. The main trigger of COC expansion is LH (reviewed by Richards et al., 2002). The effects of LH on the COC are mediated by epidermal growth factor (EGF)like family members, amphiregulin (AREG), epiregulin (EREG) and betacellulin (BTC), which are secreted by mural granulosa cells in response to LH and act upon cumulus cells, where they stimulate their own synthesis (Park et al., 2004; Ashkenazi et al., 2005; Conti et al., 2006). FSH can also stimulate directly the synthesis of EGF-like growth factors in cumulus cells (Downs and Chen, 2008). EGF-like growth factors are synthesized as transmembrane precursors and must undergo proteolytic cleavage ("shedding") by members of the disintegrin and metalloproteinase (ADAM) family (Ben-Ami et al., 2006a). These soluble molecules then activate the EGF receptor (EGFR) on cumulus cells and stimulate the expression of genes necessary for cumulus expansion, including hyaluronan synthase 2 (HAS2), cyclooxygenase 2 (COX2), tumor necrosis factor-stimulated gene-6 protein (TSG6) and pentraxin 3 (PTX3; Ashkenazi et al., 2005; Conti et al., 2006; Shimada et al., 2006; Su et al., 2010).

The periovulatory cascade described above has been determined from studies in rodents, and some caution should be exercised when extrapolating to other species. Most obviously, the time from the LH surge to ovulation is shorter in rodents (12-14 h) in comparison with monovulatory species such as cattle (28-30 h), horses, humans and primates (38-42 h; Stouffer, 2002; Sirois *et al.*, 2004; Mihm et al., 2011), which is directly related to species-specific intervals between the LH surge and the induction of *COX2* expression. The more rapid induction of *COX2* in mural granulosa cells from rodents compared to primates and cattle (Sirois *et al.*, 2004; Park *et al.*, 2004; Ben-Ami *et al.*, 2006ab; Fru *et al.*, 2007; Xu *et al.*, 2011; Portela *et al.*, 2011). These data suggest that the cow is a better model than the mouse for human ovulation. More strikingly, however, is a major difference in *BTC* expression between primates and rodents; LH/hCG increased *BTC* mRNA in mouse granulosa cells but decreased *BTC* mRNA levels in monkeys (Park *et al.*, 2004; Fru *et al.*, 2007).

Oocyte secreted factors (OSFs) regulate cumulus cell differentiation and function including sensitivity to gonadotropins, cumulus expansion, energetic metabolism,

steroidogenesis and vulnerability to apoptosis (Buccione *et al.*, 1990; Eppig *et al.*, 1997, 1998; Li *et al.*, 2000; Hussein *et al.*, 2005; Sugiura *et al.*, 2005). Developmental competence of the COC is also impacted by OSFs, the most well-known of which are bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) and growth and differentiation factor 9 (GDF9) (Juengel *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2008). BMP15 treatment during IVM stimulated cumulus expansion in mice (Yoshino *et al.*, 2006) and blastocyst production in cattle (Hussein *et al.*, 2006, 2011). Fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) have also been recognized as important OSFs; FGF8 is a major oocyte-specific factor in mice (Valve *et al.*, 1997), and BMP15 and FGF8 interact to enhance glycolysis in mouse cumulus cells (Sugiura *et al.*, 2005). Another FGF of interest is FGF10, which was localized to the bovine oocyte, and its receptors (FGFR1B and FGFR2B) to cumulus cells (Buratini *et al.*, 2007; Cho *et al.*, 2008). Supplementation of the IVM medium with FGF10 enhanced cumulus expansion and blastocyst formation in cattle (Zhang *et al.*, 2010).

In this study we first tested the hypothesis that BMP15 alone or in synergism with FGF10 would enhance cumulus expansion in cattle. Then, to shed light on the mechanisms by which these OSFs enhance cumulus expansion, we tested the effects of BMP15, FGF10 and the combination of both on expression of specific genes in the cascade that leads to cumulus expansion (e.g., *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC*, *EGFR*, *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6*). In addition, we also assessed the effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on the expression of both OSFs in the oocyte and their receptors in cumulus cells.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

Unless specified, all chemicals and reagents were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA).

#### In vitro maturation

Ovaries of adult cows (predominantly Nellore, Bos indicus) were obtained at an abattoir local to the Sao Paulo State University campus in Botucatu and transported to the laboratory in saline solution (0.9% NaCl) containing antibiotics (penicillin G; 100 IU/ml and streptomycin; 100 ug/ml) at 35-37°C. COCs were aspirated from 3 to 8 mm diameter follicles with an 18 gauge needle and pooled in a 15 ml conical tube. After sedimentation, COCs were recovered and selected using a stereomicroscope. Only COCs with homogenous cytoplasm and compact multilayer of cumulus cells were used (Grade 1 and 2). COCs were washed and

transferred in groups of 20 to a 100  $\mu$ l drop of maturation medium, TCM199 containing Earle's salts supplemented with 1 ug/ml FSH (pFSH, Folltropin-V<sup>®</sup> Bioniche, ON, CA), 10 UI/ml LH (pLH, Lutropin-V<sup>®</sup>, Bioniche, ON, CA), 22 ug/ml sodium pyruvate, 75 ug/ml amicacin and 4 mg/ml BSA. Drops were covered with mineral oil and incubated at 38.5°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in humidified air.

To assess the temporal expression patterns of the targeted cumulus expansion inducing genes (*AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC*, *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6*) during IVM, a time course experiment was designed. COCs were cultured under the conditions described above for 1, 4, 8, 12, 16 and 22 hours and cumulus cells were recovered for gene expression analysis from pools of 20 COCs (n=4/time point). Immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours.

To test the effects of OSFs on cumulus expansion and gene expression, maturation medium was supplemented with grading doses of recombinant human BMP15 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA; 0, 10, 50 and 100 ng/ml; n=4) or recombinant human FGF10 (R&D Systems; 0, 0.5, 10 and 50 ng/ml; n=4). To test the synergism between BMP15 and FGF10 in the regulation of cumulus expansion and gene expression, the maturation medium was supplemented separately with BMP15 (100 ng/ml; n=4), FGF10 (10 ng/ml; n=4) and BMP15 (100 ng/ml) plus FGF10 (10 ng/ml; n=4). These BMP15 and FGF10 doses were chosen as they were the lowest to enhance cumulus expansion in the previous dose response experiments. All treatments were tested at 4, 12 and 22 hours of culture; time points were chosen based on the time course experiment. Different times of culture were assessed in different experiments and thus treatments were compared within each time point but not between time points.

The effects of graded doses of BMP15, FGF10 and of their combination on cumulus expansion were tested at 22 hours of culture. Cumulus expansion was visually assessed according to a subjective scoring system. Grades 1 to 3 were attributed to increasing degrees of expansion (1-poor expansion, characterized by few morphological changes compared with before maturation; 2-partial expansion, characterized by fair expansion but notable clusters lacking expansion; 3-complete or nearly complete expansion; Zang *et al.*, 2010).

#### Gene expression analysis

Cumulus cells and oocytes (n=20/group) were mechanically separated by repeated pipetting in PBS. Denuded oocytes were recovered and washed three times in PBS. Cumulus cells were transferred to a 1.5 ml tubes, centrifuged twice for 5 min at 700g, the supernatant

was discarded and 350  $\mu$ l of the RNA extraction lysis buffer was added to the cell pellets. The cell suspension and oocytes were stored at -80°C until RNA extraction.

The cumulus cells from time course experiment and, both the oocytes and cumulus cells, from BMP15 and/or FGF10 experiments had its total RNA extracted using the RNeasy<sup>®</sup> kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, CA) as recommended by the manufacturer. After purification, RNA samples were eluted in 30  $\mu$ l of RNAse free water. The total RNA concentration in cumulus cells samples was measured by spectrophotometer using a NanoDrop ND<sup>®</sup> 1000 (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA). Total RNA (100 ng/reaction for cumulus cells samples; entire RNA sample for oocyte samples) was incubated with DNAse I (1 U/ $\mu$ g; Invitrogen, São Paulo, Brazil) and then reverse transcribed using Oligo-dT primers and according with the protocol provided by the Omniscript or Sensiscript kits (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, CA) for cumulus and oocyte samples, respectively. The reagents were incubated at 37°C for 60 min and then at 93° for 3 min for enzyme inactivation.

Relative real time RT-PCR analysis was performed with an ABI 7500 thermocycler using Power Sybr Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, São Paulo, Brazil). The final volume of the PCR mix was 25  $\mu$ l and PCR cycling conditions were: 95°C for 10 min (1 cycle), denaturing at 95°C for 10 sec followed by annealing for 1 min (40 cycles). The primers sequences, amplicons sizes and annealing temperatures for each target gene are shown in Table I. Reactions were optimized to provide maximum amplification efficiency for each gene. Each sample was run in duplicates, and the specificity of the PCR products was assessed by melting curve analyses (except for FGF17) and amplicon size determined by electrophoresis in 2% agarose gels.

To select the most stable housekeeping gene, Cyclophilin-A (*CYC-A*), Glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*) and Histone H2AFZ (*H2AFZ*) amplification profiles were compared using the geNorm applet for Microsoft Excel (medgen.ugent.be/genorm; Vandesompele *et al.*, 2002); the most stable housekeeping gene was *CYC-A* for oocytes and cumulus cells.

The relative expression values for each gene were calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction and using one control sample as calibrator (Pfaffl, 2001). Mean efficiency values for each gene were calculated from the amplification profile of individual samples with LinRegPCR software (Ramakers *et al.*, 2003).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Cumulus expansion data were transformed to arcsine, and gene expression data were transformed to logarithms when not normally distributed. The effects of time on gene expression and of treatments with BMP15 and/or FGF10 on cumulus cell expansion and gene expression were tested by analysis of variance (ANOVA), and means were compared with the Tukey-Kramer HSD test. The analyses were performed with JMP software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and the results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM). Differences were considered significant when *P*<0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### Effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on cumulus expansion

COCs were exposed to graded doses of BMP15 and FGF10 and cumulus expansion was recorded. The percentage of grade 3 COCs (complete or nearly complete cumulus expansion) was increased by BMP15 at 100 ng/ml (Fig. 1A) and by FGF10 at 10 ng/ml (Fig. 1B). A combination of BMP15 with FGF10 increased the percentage of fully expanded COCs cumulus expansion compared to the control, but did not further enhance cumulus expansion compared to either BMP15 or FGF10 alone (Fig. 1C).

#### Effect of time on cumulus-expansion related gene expression

Before testing the effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on the abundance of mRNA encoding key genes in the regulation of cumulus expansion, the temporal expression patterns of such genes throughout IVM were assessed. Abundance of mRNA encoding all target genes except *BTC* increased significantly during IVM; *BTC* decreased significantly with time (Fig. 2). Levels of *AREG*, *EREG*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA in cultured cells were significantly higher after 1 hour IVM compared with immature control cumulus cells, whereas abundance of mRNA encoding *ADAM17*, *ADAM10* and *COX2* increased at 4 hours (*ADAM17* and *COX2*) or 12 hours (*ADAM10*) of culture. The expression of most target genes peaked between 8 and 12 hours after start of IVM and decreased by 22 hours of IVM, except those for *PTX3* and *TSG6* which peaked at 12 hours and remained increased until the end of IVM (at 22 hours; Fig 2).

#### Effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on cumulus-expansion related gene expression

To gain insight into the mechanisms by which BMP15 and FGF10 enhance cumulus expansion, we examined whether BMP15 and FGF10 regulate expression of key genes involved in the ovulatory cascade. BMP15 at the dose effective to enhance expansion (100 ng/ml) increased mRNA expression of *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *AREG*, *EREG* and *HAS2* mRNA levels at 12 hours of culture, most of which remained elevated by BMP15 at 22 hours of culture (Fig. 3 and 4). There were significant effects of BMP15 on *COX2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA levels at 22 hours of culture but not before (Fig. 4), whereas BMP15 had no effect on *BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA abundance (Fig. 3).

FGF10 did not affect abundance of mRNA encoding *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *EGF*-like factors or *EGFR* (Fig. 5), but stimulated, at the dose effective to enhance expansion (10 ng/ml), *COX2* mRNA levels by 4 hours of culture, which was also observed at 12 and 22 of culture. FGF10 increased *PTX3* mRNA levels at 12 and 22 hours, and *TSG6* mRNA levels only at 22 hours (Fig. 6). BMP15 and FGF10 in combination did not alter abundance of mRNA of any of the genes measured compared to each growth factor alone (data not shown).

#### Effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on mRNA encoding BMP/FGF signaling molecules

BMP15 at the dose that enhanced cumulus expansion (100 ng/ml) stimulated abundance of mRNA encoding its own receptors (*AKL6* and *BMPRII*) in cumulus cells at 22 hours of maturation, and had a biphasic effect on *FGFR1B* mRNA abundance, which was decreased at 4 hours and increased at 12 and 22 hours of culture (Fig. 7). In contrast, expression of *FGFR2B* mRNA was not altered by BMP15 treatment (data not shown). FGF10 did not change mRNA abundance of FGF10 and BMP15 receptors, and the combination of BMP15 with FGF10 did not alter expression of the receptors differently than BMP15 alone (data not shown). Neither FGF10 nor BMP15 altered *FGF10* or *BMP15* mRNA expression in oocytes (data not shown).

#### DISCUSSION

In the face of increasing evidence of crucial roles for OSFs in the regulation of oocyte competence and cumulus differentiation (Gilchrist *et al.*, 2011), we report for the first time that BMP15 enhances cumulus expansion in a non-rodent model. We also present novel mechanistic information based on gene expression data indicating that BMP15 and FGF10 act at different loci to enhance cumulus expansion; whilst BMP15 appears to stimulate expression of genes at the beginning of the cascade leading to expansion (*ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *AREG*)

and *EREG*), FGF10 seems to act upon downstream genes that contribute more directly to expansion (*COX2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6*).

The positive effect of BMP15 on cumulus expansion agrees with previous studies in mice (Yoshino *et al.*, 2006). In cattle, BMP15 has been reported to benefit oocyte competence and early embryo development by still unknown mechanisms (Hussein *et al.*, 2006, 2011), but its effects on cumulus expansion had not been assessed. The enhanced of cumulus expansion might be involved in the mechanisms by which BMP15 increases blastocyst rates (Hussein *et al.*, 2006, 2011), as increased cumulus expansion has been previously associated with improved embryo development (Furnus *et al.*, 1998). In the present study cumulus expansion was also enhanced by FGF10, confirming a recent report (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). However, in the present study, the lowest dose of FGF10 that enhanced cumulus expansion was 10 ng/ml, whilst in the earlier report it was 0.5 ng/ml (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). This discrepancy is possibly due to different suppliers and biological activity of FGF10 preparations, but might also be related to the concentration of FSH in the IVM medium as FSH can increase the expression of FGF10 receptors in granulosa cells (Buratini *et al.*, 2007); we used 1 µg/ml of FSH in the IVM medium, whereas Zhang *et al.* (2010) used 25 µg/ml FSH.

Before assessing the effects of BMP15 and FGF10 on gene expression, the temporal expression patterns of the target genes during IVM were determined. To our knowledge, there are no previous reports describing the temporal patterns of expression of *ADAM10*, *ADAM17* and *EGF*-like factors in cumulus cells during IVM in the cow, primates or humans. A transitory increase in *ADAM10* and *ADAM17* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells from COCs submitted to IVM with FSH was observed in the present study, similar to that reported for *ADAM17* in the pig (Yamashita *et al.*, 2007). *AREG* and *EREG* mRNA abundance was also transiently elevated for a ~ 12 h period in a manner similar to that observed during IVM in the pig (Yamashita *et al.*, 2007). *COX2* is considered to be an EGF-like target gene, and correspondingly abundance of *COX2* mRNA was stimulated for a longer period than those of the EGF-like factors. This is in agreement with previous findings in the bovine COC (Calder *et al.*, 2001), but contrasts with data in the mouse, where *COX2* mRNA levels peak and decline very rapidly in cultured cumulus cells (Joyce *et al.*, 2001).

Other available data are derived from studies with granulosa rather than cumulus cells, and generally show patterns similar to that in cumulus cells. Abundance of *AREG* and *EREG* mRNA levels increased 6 - 12 h following LH challenge in humans, primates and cattle (Freimann *et al.*, 2004; Ben-Ami *et al.*, 2006b; Fru *et al.*, 2007; Xu *et al.*, 2011; Portela *et al.*, 2011), in contrast to the very rapid induction and subsequent decline (within 4 h) observed in

mice (Park *et al.*, 2004; Carletti and Christenson, 2009). These data demonstrate that the species difference in the timing of *COX2* gene expression between mice and larger species (Sirois *et al.*, 2004) is likely due at least in part to differences in the regulation of *AREG* and *EREG* expression.

Another major difference between mice and cattle/primates is the pattern of expression of *BTC*. *BTC* mRNA levels decreased in bovine cumulus cells with time in culture in the presence of FSH (present study), as it does in pig cumulus cells (Procházka *et al.*, 2011) and in mural granulosa cells from non-human primates following gonadotropic stimulation *in vivo* (Fru *et al.*, 2007). However, in mice gonadotropins increase *BTC* expression in granulosa cells (Park *et al.*, 2004). LH treatment was reported to have no impact on *BTC* mRNA levels in human granulosa cells as indicated by microarray analysis (Ben-Ami *et al.*, 2006a). Together, these observations highlight species-specific mechanisms controlling upstream events in the ovulatory cascade, and reinforce the usefulness of the bovine model for the investigation of human ovulation.

In the present study, *HAS2* expression levels peaked between 4 and 8 hours and decreased thereafter, similarly to previous observations during bovine IVM (Schoenfelder and Einspanier, 2003). In non-human primates, *HAS2* mRNA abundance in the periovulatory follicle was increased 12 hours after *in vivo* treatment with hCG and declined to control levels at 24 hours post-treatment, although no time points earlier than 12 hours were assessed (Xu *et al.* 2011). Abundance of mRNA encoding *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA levels peaked later than those for *COX2* e *HAS2*, and remained highly stimulated until 22 hours of IVM. The temporal expression pattern of *TSG6* mRNA agrees with a previous study of hCG stimulated bovine granulosa cells (Sayasith *et al.*, 2008). An increase in *TSG6* mRNA expression 12 hours after hCG treatment was previously reported in non-human primates (Xu *et al.* 2011). Again, in mice, the temporal changes in *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA expression following *in vivo* gonadotropic stimulation are much quicker and of shorter duration than those in cattle and primates (Fulop *et al.*, 1997; Ochsner *et al.*, 2003), consistent with the shorter duration of the period from the LH surge to ovulation in rodents in comparison with cows and primates (Sirois *et al.*, 2004).

In association with its increase in cumulus expansion, BMP15 also stimulated the expression of genes critical for this process. To our knowledge this is the first report of the stimulatory action of BMP15 on the expression of *ADAM10* and *ADAM17*. The stimulatory effects of BMP15 on *AREG*, *EREG*, *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* observed in the present study are in agreement with previous reports in the mouse (Yoshino *et al.*, 2006; Li *et al.*,

2009). However, while *BTC* mRNA expression was stimulated by BMP15 in the mouse (Yoshino *et al.*, 2006), this was not observed in the present study, likely because of the marked species differences in *BTC* expression. Moreover, this finding indicates that BTC is not as important as AREG and EREG for cumulus expansion in cattle. BMP15 did not alter mRNA expression of *EGFR* in the present study, in agreement with a previous study in mice, in which BMP15 only stimulated EGFR mRNA and protein in cumulus cells when in combination with GDF9 (Su *et al.*, 2010).

The stimulatory effect of BMP15 on the expression of *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *AREG* and *EREG* was first seen at 12 hours of culture, whereas the expression of downstream regulatory genes (*COX2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6*) was up-regulated later on at 22 hours of culture. In contrast, in the mouse, BMP15 induced *COX2* more acutely, in association with increased expression of *AREG*, *EREG* and *BTC* (Yoshino *et al.*, 2006). These observations point again to differences between species in the regulation of cumulus gene expression and, as mentioned above, may reflect species-differences in the timing of ovulation after the LH surge. Since EGF-like factors stimulate the expression of *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* (Ashkenazi *et al.*, 2005; Conti *et al.*, 2006; Shimada *et al.*, 2006; Su *et al.*, 2010), the chronology of the effects observed in the present study suggests that BMP15 acts at the beginning of the cascade that leads to cumulus expansion by enhancing the expression of genes required for the production and release of active forms of EGF-like factors. The temporal association between BMP15 induced increases in the expression of *EGF*-like factors and *HAS2* suggest that *HAS2* transcription is more acutely regulated by AREG and EREG compared with *COX2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6*, although we cannot rule out a direct effect of BMP15 on *HAS2*.

In contrast to BMP15, FGF10 did not alter the expression of *ADAM10*, *ADAM17* or *EGF*-like factors, but did affect the expression of downstream genes. *COX2* expression was the first gene stimulated by FGF10, which occurred from 4 hours of culture. Next was *PTX3*, which was increased by FGF10 at 12 hours, followed by *TSG6* expression, which was upregulated at 22 hours of culture. TSG6 was reported to be a target of prostaglandin (PG) action in mice and pigs, and either silencing of COX2 or disruption of PG signaling severely impaired *TSG6* expression (Oshsner *et al.*, 2003; Takahashi *et al.*, 2006; Yamashita *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, the effects of FGF10 on *TSG6* expression are likely downstream of COX2. Embryo quality have been associated with higher levels of *COX2* expression in cumulus cells (Mckenzie *et al.*, 2004; Gilchrist *et al.*, 2011), therefore, the present data suggest that the improvement in embryo development induced by FGF10 (Zhang *et al.*, 2010) might be due to increased expression of *COX2*.

The hypothesis that BMP15 and FGF10 would synergize to enhance cumulus expansion was not confirmed by the present data. This hypothesis was motivated by the cooperation of BMP15 and FGF8 to promote glycolysis in mouse cumulus cells (Sugiura *et al.*, 2007). This difference is possibly due to the specific receptors activated by FGF8 and FGF10; FGF8 activates FGFR3C, FGFR4 and FGFR2C whereas FGF10 activates FGFR1B and FGFR2B (Zhang *et al.*, 2006).

In the present study we also assessed whether BMP15 and FGF10 regulate the expression of themselves, of each other and of their receptors. FGF10 did not alter mRNA levels of either ligands or receptors. This is in contrast with a recent study in which FGF10 stimulated the expression of *BMP15* in the oocyte during IVM in cattle (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). The reasons for this difference are not clear but might be related to the different culture systems, particularly to the biological activity of different FGF10 preparations and concentrations of FSH in the medium as discussed above. Although BMP15 did not alter mRNA expression of either OSF, it did stimulate the expression of *FGFR1B* at 12 and 22 hours of culture and of its own receptors (*ALK6* and *BMPRII*) at 22 hours of culture.

In summary, this study presents novel findings from functional and gene expression studies that allow a better comprehension of the actions of OSFs in the regulation of cumulus expansion. We have provided evidence that BMP15 enhances cumulus expansion in the cow and that BMP15 and FGF10 regulate the expression of genes that induce cumulus expansion at different steps in the ovulatory cascade: whereas BMP15 appears to act upon *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *AREG* and *EREG*, FGF10 appears to act more directly on downstream genes of the cumulus expansion cascade, particularly *COX2*.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Drs R Bueno da Silva, A C S Castilho and F M Dalanezi for their technical assistance.

#### REFERENCES

Ashkenazi H, Cao X, Motola S, Popliker M, Conti M, Tsafriri A (2005) Epidermal growth factor family members: endogenous mediators of the ovulatory response. Endocrinology 146, 77-84.

Ben-Ami I, Freimann S, Armon L, Dantes A, Ron-El R, Amsterdam A (2006a). Novel function of ovarian growth factors: combined studies by DNA microarray, biochemical and physiological approaches. Mol Hum Reprod 12, 413–419.

Ben-Ami I, Freimann S, Armon L, Dantes A, Strassburger D, Friedler S, Raziel A, Seger R, Ron-El R, Amsterdam A (2006b). PGE2 up-regulates EGF-like growth factor biosynthesis in human granulosa cells: new insights into the coordination between PGE2 and LH in ovulation. Mol Hum Reprod 12, 593–599.

Buccione R, Vanderhyden BC, Caron PJ, Eppig JJ (1990) FSH-induced expansion of the mouse cumulus oophorus in vitro is dependent upon a specific factor(s) secreted by the oocyte. Dev Biol 138, 16–25.

Buratini Jr J, Teixeira AB, Costa IB, Glapinski VF, Pinto MGL, Giometti IC, Barros CM, Cao M, Nicola ES, Price CA (2005) Expression of fibroblast growth factor-8 and regulation of cognate receptors, fibroblast growth factor receptor-3c and -4, in bovine antral follicles. Reproduction 130, 343-350.

Buratini Jr J, Pinto MG, Castilho AC, Amorim RL, Giometti IC, Portela VM, Nicola ES, Price CA (2007) Expression and function of fibroblast growth factor 10 and its receptor, fibroblast growth factor receptor 2B, in bovine follicles. Biol Reprod 77, 743–750.

Calder MD, Caveney AN, Westhusin ME, Watson AJ (2001) Cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) receptor messenger RNAs are affected by bovine oocyte maturation time and cumulus-oocyte complex quality, and PGE2 induces moderate expansion of the bovine cumulus in vitro. Biol Reprod 65, 135–140.

Carletti MZ, Christenson LK (2009) Rapid effects of LH on gene expression in the mural granulosa cells of mouse periovulatory follicles. Reproduction 137, 843–855.

Cho JH, Itoh T, Sendai Y, Hoshi H (2008) Fibroblast growth factor 7 stimulates in vitro growth of oocytes originating from bovine early antral follicles. Mol Reprod Dev 75, 1736–1743.

Conti M, Hsieh M, Park JY, Su YQ (2006) Role of the epidermal growth factor network in ovarian follicles. Mol Endocrinol 20, 715–723.

Downs SM, Chen J (2008) EGF-like peptides mediate FSH-induced maturation of cumulus cell-enclosed mouse oocytes. Mol Reprod Dev 75, 105–114.

Eppig JJ, Wigglesworth K, Pendola F, Hirao Y (1997) Murine oocytes suppress expression of luteinizing hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid by granulosa cells. Biol Reprod 56, 976–984.

Eppig JJ, Pendola FL, Wigglesworth K (1998) Mouse oocytes suppress cAMP-induced expression of LH receptor mRNA by granulosa cells in vitro. Mol Reprod Dev 49, 327–332.

Freimann S, Ben-Ami I, Dantes A, Ron-El R, Amsterdam A (2004) EGF-like factor epiregulin and amphiregulin expression is regulated by gonadotropins/cAMP in human ovarian follicular cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 324, 829–834.

Fru KN, Cherian-Shaw M, Puttabyatappa M, VandeVoort CA, Chaffin CL (2007) Regulation of granulosa cell proliferation and EGF-like ligands during the periovulatory interval in monkeys. Hum Reprod 22, 1247–1252.

Fulop C, Kamath RV, Li Y, Otto JM, Salustri A, Olsen BR, Glant TT, Hascall VC (1997) Coding sequence, exon–intron structure and chromosomal localization of murine TNFstimulated gene 6 that is specifically expressed by expanding cumulus cell–oocyte complexes. Gene 202, 95–102.

Furnus CC, de Matos DG, Moses DF (1998) Cumulus expansion during in vitro maturation of bovine oocytes: Relationship with intracellular glutathione level and its role on subsequent embryo development. Mol Reprod Dev 51, 76–83.

Gilchrist RB, Lane M, Thompson JG (2008) Oocyte-secreted factors: regulators of cumulus cell function and oocyte quality. Hum Reprod Update 14, 159–177.

Gilchrist RB (2011) Recent insights into oocyte-follicle cell interactions provide opportunities for the development of new approaches to in vitro maturation. Reprod Fertil Dev 23, 23–31.

Hussein TS, Froiland DA, Amato F, Thompson JG, Gilchrist RB (2005) Oocytes prevent cumulus cell apoptosis by maintaining a morphogenic paracrine gradient of bone morphogenetic proteins. J Cell Sci 118, 5257–5268.

Hussein TS, Thompson JG, Gilchrist RB (2006) Oocyte-secreted factors enhance oocyte developmental competence. Dev Biol 296, 514–521.

Hussein TS, Sutton-McDowall ML, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2011) Temporal effects of exogenous oocyte-secreted factors on bovine oocyte developmental competence during IVM. Reprod Fertil Dev 23, 576–584.

Joyce IM, Pendola FL, O'Brien M, Eppig JJ (2001) Regulation of prostaglandinendoperoxide synthase 2 messenger ribonucleic acid expression in mouse granulosa cells during ovulation. Endocrinology 142, 3187-3197. Juengel JL, Bodensteiner KJ, Heath DA, Hudsona NL, Moeller CL, Smith P, Galloway SM, Davis GH, Sawyer HR, McNatty KP (2004) Physiology of GDF9 and BMP15 signalling molecules. Anim Reprod Sci 82–83, 447–460.

Li R, Norman RJ, Armstrong DT, Gilchrist RB (2000) Oocyte-secreted factor(s) determine functional differences between bovine mural granulosa cells and cumulus cells. Biol Reprod 63, 839–845.

Li Q, Rajanahally S, Edson M A, Matzuk M M (2009) Stable expression and characterization of N-terminal tagged recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein 15. Mol Hum Reprod 15, 779–788.

McKenzie L J, Pangas S A, Carson S A, Kovanci E, Cisneros P, Buster J E, Amato P, Matzuk M M (2004) Human cumulus granulosa cell gene expression: a predictor of fertilization and embryo selection in women undergoing IVF. Hum Reprod 19, 2869–2874.

Mihm M, Gangooly S, Muttukrishna S (2011) The normal menstrual cycle in women. Anim Reprod Sci 124, 229–236.

Ochsner SA, Russell DL, Day AJ, Breyer RM, Richards JS (2003) Decreased expression of tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ -stimulated gene 6 in cumulus cells of the cyclooxygenase-2 and EP2 null mice. Endocrinology 144, 1008–1019.

Park JY, Su YQ, Ariga M, Law E, Jin SL, Conti M (2004) EGF-like growth factors as mediators of LH action in the ovulatory follicle. Science 303, 682-684.

Pfaffl MW (2001) A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. Nucleic Acids Res 29, 2002-2007.

Portela VM, Zamberlam G, Gonçalves PBD, de Oliveira JFC, Price CA (2011) Role of angiotensin II in the periovulatory epidermal growth factor-like cascade in bovine granulosa cells in vitro. Biol Reprod, in press.

Procházka R, Petlach M, Nagyová E, Nemcová L (2011) Effect of epidermal growth factorlike peptides on pig cumulus cell expansion, oocyte maturation, and acquisition of developmental competence in vitro: comparison with gonadotropins. Reproduction 141, 425– 435.

Ramakers C, Ruijter JM, Deprez RH, Moorman AF (2003) Assumption-free analysis of quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) data. Neurosci Lett 339, 62-66.

Richards JS, Russell DL, Ochsner S, Espey LL (2002) Ovulation: New dimensions and new regulators of the inflammatory-like response. Annu Rev Physiol 64, 69–92.

Richards JR (2005) Ovulation: New factors that prepare the oocyte for fertilization. Mol Cell Endocrinol 234, 75-79.

Sayasith K, Bouchard N, Doré M, Sirois J (2008) Regulation of bovine tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ -induced protein 6 in ovarian follicles during the ovulatory process and promoter activation in granulosa cells. Endocrinology 149, 6213–6225.

Schoenfelder M, Einspanier R (2003) Expression of hyaluronan synthases and corresponding hyaluronan receptors is differentially regulated during oocyte maturation in cattle. Biol Reprod 69, 269–277.

Shimada M, Hernandez-Gonzalez I, Gonzalez-Robayna I, Richards JS (2006) Paracrine and autocrine regulation of epidermal growth factor-like factors in cumulus oocyte complexes and granulosa cells: key roles for prostaglandin synthase 2 and progesterone receptor. Mol Endocrinol 20, 1352–1365.

Sirois J, Sayasith K, Brown KA, Stock AE, Bouchard N, Dore M (2004) Cyclooxygenase-2 and its role in ovulation: a 2004 account. Hum Reprod Update 10, 373–385.

Stouffer RL (2002) Pre-ovulatory events in the rhesus monkey follicle during ovulation induction. Reprod Biomed Online 4, 1-4.

Su YQ, Sugiura K, Li Q, Wigglesworth K, Matzuk MM, Eppig JJ (2010) Mouse oocytes enable LH-induced maturation of the cumulus-oocyte complex via promoting EGF receptor-dependent signaling. Mol Endocrinol 24, 1230–1239.

Sugiura K, Pendola FL, Eppig JJ (2005) Oocyte control of metabolic cooperativity between oocytes and companion granulosa cells: energy metabolism. Dev Biol 279, 20–30.

Sugiura K, Su YQ, Diaz FJ, Pangas SA, Sharma S, Wigglesworth K, O'Brien MJ, Matzuk MM, Shimasaki S, Eppig JJ (2007) Oocyte-derived BMP15 and FGFs cooperate to promote glycolysis in cumulus cells. Development 134, 2593–2603.

Takahashi T, Morrow JD, Wang H, Dey SK (2006) Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostagrandin E2 directs oocyte maturation by differentially influencing multiple signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 281, 37117-37129.

Valve E, Penttila TL, Paranko J, Härkönen P (1997) FGF-8 is expressed during specific phases of rodent oocyte and spermatogonium development. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 232, 173-177.

Vandesompele J, Preter KD, Pattyn F, Poppe B, Roy NV, Paepe AD, Speleman F (2002) Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. Genome Biol 3, 1-11.

Xu F, Stouffer RL, Muller J, Hennebold JD, Wright JW, Bahar A, Leder G, Peters M, Thorne M, Sims M, Wintermantel T, Lindenthal B (2011) Dynamics of the transcriptome in the primate ovulatory follicle. Mol Hum Reprod 17, 152–165.

Yamashita Y, Kawashima I, Yanai Y, Nishibori M, Richards JS, Shimada M (2007) Hormone-induced expression of tumor necrosis factor-converting enzyme/A Disintegrin and Metalloprotease-17 impacts porcine cumulus cell oocyte complex expansion and meiotic maturation via ligand activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. Endocrinology 148, 6164–6175.

Yamashita Y, Okamoto M, Kawashima I, Okazaki T, Nishimura R, Gunji Y, Hishinuma M, Shimada M (2011) The positive feedback loop between prostaglandin E2 and EGF-like factors is essential for the sustainable activation of MAPK3/1 in cumulus cells during in vitro maturation of porcine cumulus-oocyte complexes. Biol Reprod, in press.

Yoshino O, McMahon HE, Sharma S, Shimasaki S (2006) A unique preovulatory expression pattern plays a key role in the physiological functions of BMP-15 in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 10678–10683.

Zhang X, Ibrahimi OA, Olsen SK, Umemori H, Mohammadi M, Ornitz DM (2006) Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. The complete mammalian FGF family. J Biol Chem 281, 15694–15700.

Zhang K, Hansen PJ, Ealy AD (2010) Fibroblast growth factor 10 enhances bovine oocyte maturation and developmental competence in vitro. Reproduction 140, 815–826.

#### **FIGURE LEGENDS**

**Figure 1.** - Effects of BMP15 (A), FGF10 (B) and the combination of both (C) on cumulus expansion. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 and FGF10, and with combination of BMP15 (100 ng/ml) and FGF10 (10 ng/ml) at doses that stimulated cumulus expansion. After culture for 22 hours, the degree of expansion was classified from grades 1 to 3. The proportion of fully expanded COCs (grade 3) was increased by BMP15 at 100 ng/ml and FGF10 at 10 ng/ml, but the combination of both did not further stimulate expansion. Different letters within grades indicate significant differences (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each treatment.

**Figure 2.** – Effects of time on *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC*, *ADAM10*, *ADAM17*, *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells during IVM. COCs were cultured for 1, 4, 8, 12, 16 and 22 hours. Groups of immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

**Figure 3.** - Effects of grading doses of BMP15 on *ADAM10/17*, *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

**Figure 4.** - Effects of grading doses of BMP15 on *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

**Figure 5.** - Effects of grading doses of FGF10 on *ADAM10/17*, *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FGF10 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

**Figure 6.** - Effects of grading doses of FGF10 on *COX2*, *HAS2*, *PTX3* and *TSG6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FGF10 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

**Figure 7.** - Effects of grading doses of BMP15 on *FGFR1B*, ALK6 and *BMPRII* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of BMP15 for 4, 12 and 22 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates for each time point.

Genes	Primer Sequence	Fragment	Annealing
		size (bp)	Temperature (°C)
CYC-A	F 5'-GCCATGGAGCGCTTTGG-3'	65	60
	R 5'-CCACAGTCAGCAATGGTGATCT-3'	05	00
GAPDH	F 5'-GGCGTGAACCACGAGAAGTATAA-3'	110	62
	R 5'-CCCTCCACGATGCCAAAGT-3'	11)	02
H2AFZ	F 5'-GAGGAGCTGAACAAGCTGTTG-3'	74	60
	R 5'-TTGTGGTGGCTCTCAGTCTTC-3'	/ 4	00
AREG	F 5'-CTTTCGTCTCTGCCATGACCTT-3'	100	60
	R 5'-CGTTCTTCAGCGACACCTTCA-3'	100	00
EREG	F 5'-ACTGCACAGCATTAGTTCAAACTGA-3'	100	60
	R 5'-TGTCCATGCAAACAGTAGCCATT-3'	100	00
BTC	F 5'-GCCCCAAGCAGTACAAGCAT-3'	100	59
	R 5'-GCCCCAGCATAGCCTTCATC-3'	100	59
EGFR	F 5'-AAAGTTTGCCAAGGGACAAG-3'	253	53
	R 5'-AAAGCACATTTCCTCGGATG-3'	255	55
COX2	F 5'-AAGCCTAGCACTTTCGGTGGAGAA-3'	168	60
	R 5'-TCCAGAGTGGGAAGAGCTTGCATT-3'	100	00
HAS2	F 5'-ACACAGACAGGCTGAGGACAACTT-3'	133	60
	R 5'-AAGCAGCTGTGATTCCAAGGAGGA-3'	155	00
PTX3	F 5'-CCTCAGCTATCGGTCCATAA-3'	294	54
	R 5'-ATTGAAGCCTGTGAGGTCTGC-3'	274	54
TSG6	F 5'-GCAAAGGAGTGTGGTGGTGTGTTT-3'	135	60
	R 5'-ACTGAGGTGAATGCGCTGACCATA-3'	155	00
ADAM10	F 5'-ACCCCCCAAAGTCTCTCACA-3'	210	60
	R 5'-AATCATGCGGAGATCCAAAGTT-3'	210	00
ADAM17	F 5'-TGGGATGTGAAGATGTTGCTAGA-3'	105	60
	R 5'-ATCCAAGTGTTCCCATATCAAAATC-3'	105	00
FGFR1B	F 5'-ACGTCCTGGTGACGGAGG-3'	126	60
	R 5'-CCGGTGCCATCCATTTGA-3'	120	00
FGFR2B	F 5'-TGTGGTTGGAGGTGATGT-3'	1/1	58
	R 5'-CGAGTGCTTCAGAACCTTG-3'	1+1	50
ALK6	F 5'-CAAACCAGCAATTGCCCATCGAGA-3'	87	60
	R 5'-AAGCCCAGGTCAGCTATACAGCAA-3'	07	00
BMPRII	F 5'-CCCACTCTTCGGCACCCTGG-3'	100	59
	R 5'-CCCCGCAGTTATTTCCCCCG-3'	100	57
FGF10	F 5'- AAGGAGATGTCCGCTGGAGAAAGCT-3'	104	60
	R 5'- ACTGTACGGGCAGTTCTCCTTCTT3'	104	00
BMP15	F 5'-GTCAGCAGCCAAGAGGTAGTG-3'	360	50
	R 5'-CCCGAGGACATACTCCCTTAC-3'	500	57

**Table 1**. Information of specific primers used for amplification in real time PCR.

F= forward primer; R= reverse primer






Figure 2











## CAPÍTULO 3

# FSH REGULATES THE EXPRESSION OF RECEPTORS FOR OOCYTE SECRETED FACTORS (OSFs) AND MEMBERS OF THE EGF-LIKE FAMILY DURING *IN VITRO* MATURATION IN CATTLE

O presente artigo foi submetido para publicação no periódico *Reproduction Fertility and Development* e encontra-se de acordo com as normas de submissão exigidas pelo periódico. FSH regulates the expression of receptors for oocyte secreted factors (OSFs) and members of the EGF-like family during *in vitro* maturation in cattle.

Short Title: FSH regulates expression of OSF receptors and EGF-like factors

Ester Siqueira Caixeta<sup>1</sup>, Mariana Fernandes Machado<sup>1</sup>, Paula Ripamonte<sup>2</sup>, Christopher Price<sup>3</sup>, José Buratini Junior<sup>2</sup>

1 Departamento de Farmacologia and 2 Departamento de Fisiologia, Instituto de Biociências, Universidade Estadual Paulista, Rubião Junior, Botucatu, São Paulo, 18618-970, Brazil

3 Current address: Centre de Recherche en Reproduction Animale, Faculté de Médecine Vétérinaire, Université de Montréal, St-Hyacinthe, Quebec J2S 7C6, Canada

Correspondence: José Buratini Junior Departamento de Fisiologia, IB, Universidade Estadual Paulista Rubião Junior, Botucatu, SP, Brazil, 18618-970 Telephone/Fax: (55) 14.38116251 E-mail: <u>buratini@ibb.unesp.br</u>

#### ABSTRACT

FSH induces expansion of bovine cumulus-oocyte complexes (COCs) in cattle, which can be enhanced by oocyte secreted factors (OSFs). In this study we hypothesized that FSH stimulates COC expansion in part from direct stimulation of the EGF-like ligands amphiregulin (*AREG*), epiregulin (*EREG*) and betacellulin (*BTC*), but also in part through regulation of OSFs or their receptors in cumulus cells. Bovine COCs were cultured in defined medium with graded doses of FSH. In the absence of FSH, COCs did not expand. FSH caused cumulus expansion, and increased the abundance of mRNA *AREG* and *EREG* in time and dose dependent manners, but decreased *BTC* mRNA levels. FSH had modest stimulatory effects on levels of mRNA encoding the bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) receptor, *ALK6* in cumulus cells, but not those of the growth and differentiation factor 9 (GDF9) receptor, *ALK5*. More interestingly, FSH dramatically stimulated levels of mRNA encoding two fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptors, *FGFR2C* and *FGFR3C* in cumulus cells. This study demonstrates that FSH stimulates the expression of EGF-like factors in bovine cumulus cells, and more strikingly, provides novel evidence that FSH enhances the expression of receptors for OSFs in cumulus cells.

Key words: FSH / Cumulus expansion / EGF-like ligands / oocyte secreted factors

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The *in vitro* maturation (IVM) of oocytes is rising in importance as a key component of assisted reproduction in numerous species including cattle (Thibier, 2006), but developmental competence of *in vitro* matured oocytes is notably lower than that of oocytes matured *in vivo* in cattle, sheep, mice and women (Thompson *et al.* 1995; Child *et al.* 2002; Rizos *et al.* 2002; Vanhoutte *et al.* 2009). There is thus a medical and economic incentive to improve the efficiency of IVM.

The preovulatory LH surge triggers the resumption of meiosis of the oocyte, cumulus expansion and ovulation of the cumulus-oocyte complex (COC; Richards *et al.* 2002). The effects of LH on the COC are mediated by epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like family members, amphiregulin (AREG), epiregulin (EREG) and betacellulin (BTC), that are secreted by mural granulosa cells in response to LH and which activate the EGF receptor (EGFR) on cumulus cells (Park *et al.* 2004; Ashkenazi *et al.* 2005; Conti *et al.* 2006).

Oocyte secreted factors (OSFs) also regulate cumulus cell function and developmental competence of the oocyte (reviewed by Gilchrist *et al.* 2008). Bone morphogenetic protein 15 (BMP15) and growth and differentiation factor 9 (GDF9) are the best-known OSFs and enhance cumulus expansion in mice and cattle (Elvin *et al.* 1999; Leyens *et al.* 2004; Dragovic *et al.* 2005; Yoshino *et al.* 2006) and blastocyst production in cattle (Hussein *et al.* 2006, 2011). Furthermore, the addition of GDF9 to IVM medium increased the number of surviving fetuses after blastocyst transfer in mice (Yeo *et al.* 2008). BMP15 and GDF9 signaling involves two receptors; both bind to the BMP receptor II (BMPRII) but they employ distinct co-receptors for pathway activation. The downstream actions of BMP15 are mediated by the BMP receptor 1B (also named ALK6) and the Smad1/5/8 proteins (Moore *et al.* 2003), whereas actions of GDF9 are mediated by the TGFB type-I receptor (also named ALK5) and the Smad 2/3 proteins (Mazerbourg *et al.* 2004). All of these receptors are present within the follicle (Fatehi *et al.* 2005).

The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family also contains potential OSFs, including FGF8 in the mouse (Valve *et al.* 1997) and FGF8, FGF10 and FGF17 in cattle (Buratini *et al.* 2005, 2007, Machado *et al.* 2009). Addition of FGF10 enhanced cumulus expansion and blastocyst formation in cattle *in vitro* (Zhang *et al.* 2010). FGF signaling is complex as there are four receptor (FGFR) genes, three of which give rise to splice variants ('b' and 'c' forms) with specific ligand binding properties. FGF10 activates predominantly the 'b' isoform of FGFR1 and 2 (Itoh and Ornitz 2004), while FGF8 and FGF17 efficiently activate the 'c'

isoform of FGFR2 and 3 (Ornitz *et al.* 1996). Expression of these receptors has been reported in cumulus cells (Cho *et al.* 2008; Zhang *et al.* 2010).

FSH can also directly stimulate expansion of COCs in cattle (Choi *et al.* 2001; Sutton-McDowall *et al.* 2004). This is likely to be through increased expression of EGF-like growth factors, as FSH increased *AREG* mRNA abundance in isolated mouse and pig COCs *in vitro* (Downs and Chen, 2008; Procházka *et al.* 2011), although this has not been demonstrated in the cow. FSH may also act through OSF signaling, as it decreased the expression of *BMPRII* in serum-free cultures of bovine and ovine mural granulosa cells (Jayawardana *et al.* 2006; Chen *et al.* 2009) and increased *FGFR* expression in bovine granulosa cells (Buratini *et al.* 2005, 2007). The effect of FSH on cumulus cells is less clear; *BMPRII* mRNA levels in COCs increased during IVM in the presence of serum and gonadotropins, although the specific effects of FSH were not evaluated (Kyasari *et al.* 2011). Thus, the objectives of the present study were to determine the effect of FSH on genes involved with cumulus expansion and OSF signaling in bovine IVM under defined conditions.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

Unless specified, all chemicals and reagents were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA).

#### In vitro maturation

Ovaries of adult cows (predominantly Nellore, *Bos indicus*) were obtained in an abattoir local to the Sao Paulo State University campus in Botucatu and transported to the laboratory in saline solution (0.9% NaCl) containing antibiotics (penicillin G; 100 IU/ml and streptomycin; 100 ug/ml) at 35-37°C. COCs were aspirated from 3 to 8 mm diameter follicles with an 18 gauge needle and pooled in a 15 ml conical tube. After sedimentation, COCs were recovered and selected using a stereomicroscope. Only COCs with homogenous cytoplasm and compact multilayer of cumulus cells were used (Grade 1 and 2). COCs were washed and transferred in groups of 20 to a 100  $\mu$ l drop of maturation medium (TCM199 containing Earle's salts supplemented with 22 ug/ml sodium pyruvate and 75 ug/ml amicacin). Drops were covered with mineral oil and incubated at 38.5°C in 5% of CO<sub>2</sub> in humidified air.

To assess the effects of time and FSH on gene expression during IVM a time course experiment was designed. COCs were cultured under conditions described above for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 hours with (10 ng/ml; porcine FSH, Folltropin-V<sup>®</sup> Bioniche, ON, CA) or without FSH and cumulus cells were recovered for gene expression analysis from pools of 20 COCs

(n=4). Immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Subsequently, to test the effects of FSH dose on gene expression, COCs were cultured for 12 hours in maturation medium supplemented with grading doses of FSH (0, 0.1, 1, 10 and 100 ng/ml; n=4), after which cumulus cells were separated for total RNA extraction.

To assess the effect of IVM on mRNA expression of OSFs, oocytes were separated for total RNA extraction from pools of 20 COCs before (immature) and after culture for 20 hours in maturation medium supplemented with FSH (10 ng/ml; n=4).

#### Gene expression analysis

Cumulus cells and oocytes (n=20/group) were mechanically separated by repeated pipetting in PBS from immature COCs and cultured COCs. Denuded oocytes were recovered and washed three times in PBS. Cumulus cells were transferred to a 1.5 ml tube, centrifuged twice for 5 minutes at 700g, the supernatant was discarded and 350  $\mu$ l of the RNA extraction lysis buffer was added to the cell pellets. The cell suspension and oocytes were stored at - 80°C until RNA extraction.

Total RNA was extracted from pools of 20 oocytes and cumulus cells from groups of 20 COCs using the RNeasy<sup>®</sup> kit (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, CA) as recommended by the manufacturer. After purification, RNA samples were eluted in 30  $\mu$ l of RNAse free water. Total RNA concentration in cumulus cells samples were measured by spectrophotometer using a NanoDrop ND<sup>®</sup> 1000 (Thermo Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA). Total RNA (100 ng/reaction for cumulus samples and entire RNA sample for oocyte samples) was incubated with DNAse I (1 U/ $\mu$ g; Invitrogen, São Paulo, Brazil) and then reverse transcribed using Oligo-dT primers and according with the protocol provided by the Omniscript or Sensiscript kits (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, CA) for cumulus and oocyte samples, respectively. The reagents were incubated at 37°C for 60 min and then at 93° for 3 min for enzyme inactivation.

Real time RT-PCR analysis was performed with an ABI 7500 thermocycler using Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) for all target and housekeeping genes, except for FGF17. The detection system TaqMan Assay by Design (Applied Biosystems, Sao Paulo, Brazil) was used for FGF17 as it provided a higher amplification efficiency in comparison with SYBR Green. The final volume of the PCR mix was 25 µl and PCR cycling conditions were: 95°C for 10 min (1 cycle), denaturing at 95°C for 10 sec followed by annealing for 1 min (40 cycles). The primers sequences, amplicons sizes and annealing temperatures for each target gene are shown in Table 1. Reactions were optimized to provide maximum amplification efficiency for each gene. Each sample was run in duplicates, and the specificity of the PCR products was assessed by the melting curve analysis and amplicon size determined by electrophoresis in agarose 2%. Negative controls (water replacing cDNA) were run in every plate.

To select the most stable housekeeping gene Cyclophilin-A (*CYC-A*), Glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*) and Histone H2AFZ (*H2AFZ*) amplification profiles were compared using the geNorm applet for Microsoft Excel (medgen.ugent.be/genorm; Vandesompele et al., 2002); the most stable housekeeping gene was Cyclophilin-A (*CYC-A*) for oocytes and cumulus cells.

The relative expression values for each gene were calculated using the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction and using one control sample as calibrator (Pfaffl, 2001). Mean efficiency values for each gene were calculated from the amplification profile of individual samples with LinRegPCR software (Ramakers et al., 2003).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The effects of time of maturation and FSH treatment on gene expression of oocytes and cumulus cells were tested by analysis of variance (ANOVA), and means were compared with the Tukey-Kramer HSD test. Gene expression data were transformed to logarithms if not normally distributed; when the log-transformed data departed signifiantly from normality, a non-parametric test (Kruskal-Wallis) was used. The analyses were performed with JMP software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and the results are presented as mean± standard error of the mean (SEM). Differences were considered significant when P<0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### Effects of time and FSH on expression of expansion-related genes in cumulus cells

To determine the impact of FSH on cumulus cells, we first assessed the effect of FSH on cumulus expansion during COC culture in defined medium. In the absence of FSH, negligible expansion was observed, whereas in the presence of 10 ng/ml FSH, 100% of COCs expanded. During culture without FSH, abundance of mRNA encoding *EREG* and *BTC* did not change over 22 hours, whereas there was a significant increase in *AREG* mRNA levels (Fig 1). Addition of FSH significantly increased *AREG* and *EREG* mRNA levels above controls (without FSH) from 4 to 12 hours of culture, and significantly decreased *BTC* mRNA levels from 8 to 20 hours culture (Fig 1). Abundance of mRNA encoding *EGFR* increased at 4 hours relative to immature COC, and was only affected (inhibited) by FSH at 20 hours of IVM.

The effect of FSH was confirmed by a dose response study performed at 12 hours of culture; FSH significantly increased *AREG* and *EREG* mRNA levels, decreased *BTC* mRNA levels and was without effect on *EGFR* mRNA levels (Fig 2).

#### Effects of time and FSH on OSF receptor gene expression in cumulus cells

Cumulus cells consistently expressed mRNA encoding *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2B*, *FGFR2C* and *FGFR3C*, with average Ct values of 26, 30, 32 and 35, respectively. In the absence of FSH, abundance of mRNA encoding *FGFR2C* but not the other *FGFRs* increased with time in culture. FSH significantly increased *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2C* and *FGFR3C* mRNA levels, but had no effect on *FGFR2B* mRNA abundance (Fig 3). Receptors for GDF9 and BMP15 were also expressed in cumulus cells, with average Ct values of 28, 30 and 28 for *BMPRII*, *ALK5* and *ALK6*, respectively. Abundance of mRNA encoding *BMPRII* and *ALK5* did not change during culture with or without FSH, whereas *ALK6* mRNA levels were stimulated by FSH at 12 and 16 hours of culture (Fig 3).

The stimulatory effect of FSH on *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2C* and *FGFR3C* was confirmed by the dose-response study at 12 hours of culture (Fig 4). FSH had no effect of *FGFR2B*, *BMPRII* or *ALK5* mRNA levels, and increased *ALK6* mRNA only at a dose higher than that used in the time course study.

#### Effects of maturation on OSF gene expression in oocytes

Abundance of mRNA encoding three oocyte-derived FGFs and, for comparison, of *BMP15* and *GDF9*, were measured before and after maturation with FSH. Relative levels of *FGF8* and *FGF10* mRNA were low in immature oocytes (Ct values of 36-37) compared to *BMP15* and *GDF9* (Ct values of 24). Abundance of mRNA encoding *BMP15*, *GDF9* and *FGF10* were not altered by IVM, however, *FGF8* mRNA was undetectable in 3 of 4 samples at 20 hours (Fig 5). *FGF17* was weakly expressed in immature oocytes (Ct values of 38), and was undetectable at 20 hours culture.

#### DISCUSSION

FSH can induce cumulus expansion in bovine COC *in vitro*, and this effect can be enhanced by addition of BMP15 or FGF10 (Choi *et al.* 2001; Yoshino *et al.* 2006; Zhang *et al.* 2010). It is therefore likely that FSH regulates expansion-related genes and expression of BMP/FGF receptors in cumulus cells. In the present study we demonstrate that FSH directly stimulates *AREG* and *EREG* expression in bovine cumulus cells, as previously shown for

mice and pigs (Downs and Chen, 2008; Procházka *et al.* 2011), and show for the first time upregulation of *BMP* and *FGF* receptor mRNAs by FSH in the cumulus.

The most striking result of the present study is the rapid and significant increase in levels of mRNA encoding the 'c' splice variants of *FGFR2* and *FGFR3* in cumulus cells by FSH. Relative abundance increased by approximately 500-fold within 4 h of culture compared to culture in the absence of FSH. A similar but less marked effect was noted for *FGFR1B*, whereas FSH had no effect on *FGFR2B*. These data show clear regulation of specific receptors in cumulus cells, and point to potential roles for ligands that bind to these receptors.

The 'c' splice variants of FGFR2 and FGFR3 are activated by a broad range of FGFs, including FGF1, FGF2, FGF8, FGF9 and FGF17 (Zhang *et al.* 2006), all of which have been detected in the oocyte of several species (van Wezel *et al.* 1995; Valve *et al.* 1997; Ben-Haroush *et al.* 2005; Buratini *et al.* 2005; Zhong *et al.* 2006; Machado *et al.* 2009), although other FGFs that activate these receptors may also be present within the follicle.

FSH also increased *ALK6* mRNA levels in cumulus cells, which is consistent with the increase of these messages with time during IVM in sheep (Kyasari *et al.* 2011), although different from studies in rat granulosa cells in which FSH did not alter *ALK6* mRNA levels (Nakamura *et al.* 2010; Miyoshi *et al.* 2007). On the other hand, *BMPRII* mRNA abundance in cumulus was not affected by FSH treatment, in agreement with data from rat granulosa cells (Nakamura *et al.* 2010; Miyoshi *et al.* 2007), but in contrast to the inhibition in sheep and cattle granulosa cells (Jayawardana *et al.* 2006; Chen *et al.* 2009), suggesting different responses in granulosa *vs.* cumulus cells, or the different nature of the culture systems involved. The increase in *ALK6* observed here is consistent with the effect of BMP15 on cumulus expansion previously reported (Yoshino *et al.* 2006).

FSH induces cumulus expansion in basal media (Sutton-McDowall *et al.* 2004), and expansion is dependent on expression of EGF-like ligands and COX2 (Park *et al.* 2004, Conti *et al.* 2006). Consistent with this, FSH increased *AREG* and *EREG* mRNA abundance in the present study in time- and dose-dependent manners. In the absence of FSH, and therefore of expansion, basal *EREG* mRNA levels did not increase, however, there was a significant increase in *AREG* mRNA levels. Clearly this increase was not able to induce expansion, most likely because FSH is necessary for sheddase activity and release of bioactive AREG. Interestingly, these data demonstrate differential regulation of *AREG* and *EREG* mRNA abundance. This is supported by data from bovine granulosa cells, in which LH increases *EREG* mRNA levels several hours before *AREG* mRNA levels increased (Portela *et al.* 2011).

BTC is an EGF-like ligand that is upregulated by LH in rodents (Park *et al.* 2004), but is downregulated in granulosa cells by gonadotropins in monkeys *in vivo* (Fru *et al.* 2007), and decreases in cumulus cells during IVM in pigs (Procházka *et al.* 2011). In the present study, *BTC* mRNA levels did not change in the absence of FSH, but were inhibited by FSH in a dose-dependent manner. Together, these data suggest specific downregulation of BTC in cattle, pigs and primates, but not in mice.

Gene expression of the major OSFs, *BMP15* and *GDF9* in oocytes did not differ between immature (germinal vesicle stage) and mature oocytes. This is generally consistent with data from cattle (Lonergan *et al.* 2003; Fair *et al.* 2007) and sheep (Kyasari *et al.* 2011) although other studies have reported significant decreases in *GDF9* mRNA in metaphase II oocytes of cattle (Lequarre *et al.* 2004), pigs (Li *et al.* 2008; Zhu *et al.* 2008; Zhang *et al.* 2009) and mice (Su *et al.* 2007; Sanchez *et al.* 2009). Abundance of mRNA encoding *FGF8* and *FGF17* decreased in mature oocytes, in agreement with data for *FGF8* in mice (Zhong *et al.* 2006; Su *et al.* 2007), although *FGF10* mRNA levels were not altered. Thus degradation of OSF mRNA in matured bovine oocytes is restricted to specific OSFs, at least under the present conditions.

In conclusion, the present data demonstrate that FSH stimulates expression of EGFlike ligands and specific OSF receptors in bovine cumulus cells during IVM. The marked stimulation of *FGFR2C* and *FGFR3C* mRNA levels in cumulus by FSH suggests important roles for FGFR signaling in the process of cumulus expansion in cattle.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Drs R Bueno da Silva, A C S Castilho and F M Dalanezi for their technical assistance.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) and the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq), Brazil.

#### REFERENCES

- Ashkenazi, H., Cao, X., Motola, S., Popliker, M., Conti, M., and Tsafriri, A. (2005). Epidermal growth factor family members: endogenous mediators of the ovulatory response. *Endocrinology* 146, 77-84.
- Ben-Haroush, A., Abir, R., Ao, A., Jin, S., Kessler-Icekson, G., Feldberg, D., and Fisch, B. (2005). Expression of basic fibroblast growth factor and its receptors in human ovarian follicles from adults and fetuses. *Fertil. Steril.* 84, 1257-1268.
- Buratini Jr, J., Teixeira, A. B., Costa, I. B., Glapinski, V. F., Pinto, M. G. L., Giometti, I. C., Barros, C. M., Cao, M., Nicola, E. S., and Price, C. A. (2005). Expression of fibroblast growth factor-8 and regulation of cognate receptors, fibroblast growth factor receptor-3c and -4, in bovine antral follicles. *Reproduction* 130, 343-350.
- Buratini Jr, J., Pinto, M. G., Castilho, A. C., Amorim, R. L., Giometti, I. C., Portela, V. M., Nicola, E. S., and Price, C. A. (2007). Expression and function of fibroblast growth factor 10 and its receptor, fibroblast growth factor receptor 2B, in bovine follicles. *Biol. Reprod.* 77, 743–750.
- Chen, A. Q., Yu, S. D., Wang, G. Z., Xu, Z. R., and Yang, Z. G. Stage-specific expression of bone morphogenetic protein type I and type II receptor genes: Effects of folliclestimulating hormone on ovine antral follicles. *Anim. Reprod. Sci.* 111, 391-399.
- Child, T. J., Phillips, S. J., Abdul-Jalil, A. K., Gulekli, B., and Tan, S. L. (2002). A comparison of in vitro maturation and in vitro fertilization for women with polycystic ovaries. *Obstet. Gynecol.* **100**, 665–670.
- Choi, Y. H., Carnevale, E. M., Seidel Jr, G. E., and Squires E. L. (2001). Effects of gonadotropins on bovine oocytes matured in TCM-199. *Theriogenology* **56**, 661-670.
- Conti, M., Hsieh, M., Park, J. Y., and Su, Y. Q. (2006). Role of the epidermal growth factor network in ovarian follicles. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **20**, 715–723.
- Downs, S. M., and Chen, J. (2008). EGF-like peptides mediate FSH-induced maturation of cumulus cell-enclosed mouse oocytes. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* **75**, 105–114.
- Dragovic, R. A., Ritter, L. J., Schulz, S. J., Amato, F., Armstrong, D. T., and Gilchrist, R. B. (2005). Role of oocyte-secreted growth differentiation factor 9 in the regulation of mouse cumulus expansion. *Endocrinology* **146**, 2798-2806.
- Elvin, J. A., Clark, A. T., Wang, P., Wolfman, N. M., and Matzuk, M. M. (1999). Paracrine actions of growth differentiation factor-9 in the mammalian ovary. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 13, 1035-1048.

- Fair, T., Carter, F., Park, S., Evans, A. C. O., and Lonergan, P. (2007). Global gene expression analysis during bovine oocyte in vitro maturation. *Theriogenology* **68**, 91-97.
- Fatehi, A. N., van den Hurk, R., Colenbrander, B., Daemen, A. J. J. M., van Tol, H. T. A., Monteiro, R. M., Roelen, B. A. J., and Bevers, M. M. (2005). Expression of bone morphogenetic protein2 (BMP2), BMP4 and BMP receptors in the bovine ovary but absence of effects of BMP2 and BMP4 during IVM on bovine oocyte nuclear maturation and subsequent embryo development. *Theriogenology* 63, 872–889.
- Fru, K. N., Cherian-Shaw, M., Puttabyatappa, M., VandeVoort, C. A., and Chaffin, C. L. (2007). Regulation of granulosa cell proliferation and EGF-like ligands during the periovulatory interval in monkeys. *Hum. Reprod.* 22, 1247–1252.
- Gilchrist, R. B., Lane, M., and Thompson, J. G. (2008). Oocyte-secreted factors: regulators of cumulus cell function and oocyte quality. *Hum. Reprod. Update* **14**, 159-177
- Hussein, T. S., Thompson, J. G., and Gilchrist, R. B. (2006). Oocyte-secreted factors enhance oocyte developmental competence. *Dev. Biol.* **296**, 514–521.
- Hussein, T. S., Sutton-McDowall, M. L., Gilchrist, R. B., and Thompson, J.G. (2011). Temporal effects of exogenous oocyte-secreted factors on bovine oocyte developmental competence during IVM. *Reprod. Fertil. Dev.* 23, 576–584.
- Itoh, N., and Ornitz, D. M. (2004). Evolution of the FGF and FGFR gene families. *Trends Genet.* **20**, 563-569.
- Jayawardana, B. C., Shimizu, T., Nishimoto, H., Kaneko, E., Tetsuka, M., and Miyamoto, A. (2006). Hormonal regulation of expression of growth differentiation factor-9 receptor type I and II genes in the bovine ovarian follicle. *Reproduction* 131, 545–553.
- Kyasari, O. R., Valojerdi, M. R., Farrokhi, A., and Ebrahimi, B. (2011). Expression of maturation genes and their receptors during in vitro maturation of sheep COCs in the presence and absence of somatic cells of cumulus origin. *Theriogenology* in press
- Lequarre, A. S., Traverso, J. M., Marchandise, J., and Donnay, I. (2004). Poly(A) RNA is reduced by half during bovine oocyte maturation but increases when meiotic arrest is maintained with CDK inhibitors1. *Biol. Reprod.* **71**, 425-431.
- Leyens, G., Verhaeghe, B., Landtmeters, M., Marchandise, J., Knoops, B., and Donnay, I. (2004). Peroxiredoxin 6 is upregulated in bovine oocytes and cumulus cells during in vitro maturation: role of intercellular communication. *Biol. Reprod.* **71**, 1646-1651.
- Li, H. K., Kuo, T. Y., Yang, H. S., Chen, L. R., Li, S. S. L., and Huang, H. W. (2008). Differential gene expression of bone morphogenetic protein 15 and growth differentiation

factor 9 during in vitro maturation of porcine oocytes and early embryos. *Anim. Reprod. Sci.* **103**, 312-322.

- Lonergan, P., Gutiérrez-Adán, A., Rizos, D., Pintado, B., de la Fuente, J., and Boland M. P. (2003). Relative messenger RNA abundance in bovine oocytes collected in vitro or in vivo before and 20 hr after the preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 66, 297-305.
- Machado, M. F., Portela, V. M., Price, C. A., Costa, I. B., Ripamonte, P., Amorim, R. L., and Buratini Jr, J. (2009). Regulation and action of fibroblast growth factor 17 in bovine follicles. *J. Endocrinol.* **202**, 347–353.
- Mazerbourg, S., Klein, C., Roh, J., Kaivo-Oja, N., Mottershead, D. G., Korchynskyi, O., Ritvos, O., and Hsueh, A.J. (2004). Growth differentiation factor-9 (GDF-9) signaling is mediated by the type I receptor, activin receptor-like kinase 5. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 18, 653-665.
- Miyoshi, T., Otsuka, F., Inagaki, K., Otani, H., Takeda, M., Suzuki, J., Goto, J., Ogura, T., and Makino, H. (2007). Differential regulation of steroidogenesis by bone morphogenetic proteins in granulosa cells: Involvement of extracellularly regulated kinase signaling and oocyte actions in follicle-stimulating hormone-induced estrogen production. *Endocrinology* 148, 337-345.
- Moore, R. K., Otsuka, F., and Shimasaki, S. (2003). Molecular basis of bone morphogenetic protein-15 signaling in granulosa cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 304–310.
- Nakamura, E., Otsuka, F., Inagaki, K., Miyoshi, T., Yamanaka, R., Tsukamoto, N., Suzuki, J., Ogura, T., and Makino, H. (2010). A novel antagonistic effect of the bone morphogenetic protein system on prolactin actions in regulating steroidogenesis by granulosa cells. *Endocrinology* **151**, 5506–5518.
- Ornitz, D. M., Xu, J., Colvin, J. S., McEwen, D. G., MacArthur, C. A., Coulieri, F., Gao, G., and Goldfarb, M. (1996). Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. J. *Biol. Chem.* 271, 15292–15297.
- Park, J. Y., Su, Y. Q., Ariga, M., Law, E., Jin, S. L., and Conti, M. (2004). EGF-like growth factors as mediators of LH action in the ovulatory follicle. *Science* **303**, 682-684.
- Pfaffl, M. W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT-PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **29**, 2002-2007.
- Portela, V. M., Zamberlam, G., Gonçalves, P. B. D., de Oliveira, J. F. C., and Price, C. A. (2011). Role of angiotensin II in the periovulatory epidermal growth factor-like cascade in bovine granulosa cells in vitro. *Biol. Reprod.* 85, 1167-1174.

- Procházka, R., Petlach, M., Nagyová, E., and Nemcová, L. (2011). Effect of epidermal growth factor-like peptides on pig cumulus cell expansion, oocyte maturation, and acquisition of developmental competence in vitro: comparison with gonadotropins. *Reproduction* 141, 425-435.
- Ramakers, C., Ruijter, J. M., Deprez, R. H., and Moorman, A. F. (2003). Assumption-free analysis of quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) data. *Neurosci. Lett.* 339, 62-66.
- Richards, J. S., Russell, D. L., Ochsner, S., and Espey, L. L. (2002). Ovulation: New dimensions and new regulators of the inflammatory-like response. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 64, 69–92.
- Rizos, D., Ward, F., Duffy, P., Boland, M. P., and Lonergan, P. (2002). Consequences of bovine oocytematuration, fertilization or early embryo development in vitro versus in vivo: implications for blastocyst yield and blastocyst quality. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 61, 234– 248.
- Sánchez, F., Adriaenssens, T., Romero, S., and Smitz, J. (2009). Quantification of oocytespecific transcripts in follicle-enclosed oocytes during antral development and maturation in vitro. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 15, 539-550.
- Su, Y. Q., Sugiura, K., Woo, Y., Wigglesworth, K., Kamdar, S., Affourtit, J., and Eppig, J. J. (2007). Selective degradation of transcripts during meiotic maturation of mouse oocytes. *Dev Biol.* **302**, 104-117.
- Sutton-McDowall, M. E., Gilchrist, R. B., and Thompson, J. G. (2004). Cumulus expansion and glucose utilisation by bovine cumulus–oocyte complexes during *in vitro* maturation: the influence of glucosamine and follicle-stimulating hormone. *Reproduction* **128**, 313– 319.
- Thibier, M. (2006). Transfers of both in vivo-derived and in vitro-produced embryos in cattle still on the rise and contrasted trends in other species in 2005. *International Embryo Transfer Society Newsletter* **24**, 12–18.
- Thompson, J. G., Gardner, D. K., Pugh, P. A., McMillan, W. H., and Tervit, H. R. (1995). Lamb birth-weight is affected by culture system utilized during in vitro pre-elongation development of ovine embryos. *Biol. Reprod.* 53, 1385–1391.
- Valve, E., Penttila, T. L., Paranko, J., and Härkönen, P. (1997). FGF-8 is expressed during specific phases of rodent oocyte and spermatogonium development. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 232, 173-177.

- van Wezel, I. L., Umapathysivam, K., Tilley, W. D., and Rodgers, R. J. (1995). Immunohistochemical localization of basic fibroblast growth factor in bovine ovarian follicles. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **115**, 133-140.
- Vandesompele, J., Preter, K. D., Pattyn, F., Poppe, B., Roy, N. V., Paepe, A. D., and Speleman, F. (2002). Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control genes. *Genome Biol.* 3, 1-11.
- Vanhoutte, L., Nogueira, D., Dumortier, F., and De Sutter, P. (2009). Assessment of a new in vitro maturation system for mouse and human cumulus-enclosed oocytes: threedimensional prematuration culture in the presence of a phosphodiesterase 3-inhibitor. *Hum. Reprod.* 24, 1946-1959.
- Yeo, C. X., Gilchrist, R. B., Thompson, J. G., and Lane, M. (2008). Exogenous growth differentiation factor 9 in oocyte maturation media enhances subsequent embryo development and fetal viability in mice. *Hum. Reprod.* 23, 67–73.
- Yoshino, O., McMahon, H. E., Sharma, S., and Shimasaki, S. (2006). A unique preovulatory expression pattern plays a key role in the physiological functions of BMP-15 in the mouse. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **103**, 10678–10683.
- Zhang, X., Ibrahimi, O. A., Olsen, S. K., Umemori, H., Mohammadi, M., and Ornitz, D. M. (2006). Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. The complete mammalian FGF family. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 15694–15700.
- Zhang, D. X., Cui, X. S., and Kim, N. H. (2009). Involvement of polyadenylation status on maternal gene expression during in vitro maturation of porcine oocytes. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* 76, 881-889.
- Zhang, K., Hansen, P. J., and Ealy, A. D. (2010). Fibroblast growth factor 10 enhances bovine oocyte maturation and developmental competence in vitro. *Reproduction* **140**, 815–826.
- Zhong, W., Wang, Q. T., Sun, T., Wang, F., Liu, J., Leach, R., Johnson, A., Puscheck, E. E., and Rappolee, D. A. (2006). FGF ligand family mRNA expression profile for mouse preimplantation embryos, early gestation human placenta, and mouse trophoblast stem cells. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* **73**, 540-550.
- Zhu, G., Guo, B., Pan, D., Mu, Y., and Feng, S. (2008). Expression of bone morphogenetic proteins and receptors in porcine cumulus–oocyte complexes during in vitro maturation. *Anim. Reprod. Sci.* 104, 275-283.

#### **FIGURE LEGENDS**

**Figure 1.** – Effects of time and FSH on *AREG*, *EREG*, *BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells during IVM. COCs were cultured for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 hours with (10 ng/ml) or without FSH. Groups of immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample and were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Bars with asterisks represent differences in relation to time 0 hours (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

**Figure 2.** - Effects of grading doses of FSH on *AREG, EREG, BTC* and *EGFR* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FSH for 12 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample are were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

**Figure 3.** - Effects of time and FSH on *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2B*, *FGFR2C*, *FGFR3C*, *BMPRII*, *ALK5* and *ALK6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells during IVM. COCs were cultured for 4, 8, 12, 16 and 20 hours with (10 ng/ml) or without FSH. Groups of immature COCs were used to represent 0 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample and were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Bars with asterisks represent differences in relation to time 0 hours (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

**Figure 4.** - Effects of grading doses of FSH on *FGFR1B*, *FGFR2B*, *FGFR2C*, *FGFR3C*, *BMPRII*, *ALK5* and *ALK6* mRNA abundance in cumulus cells. COCs were cultured with increasing doses of FSH for 12 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample are were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Bars with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates. **Figure 5.** – Effects of *in vitro* maturation on *BMP15, GDF9, FGF10, FGF8* and *FGF17* mRNA abundance in oocytes. Oocytes were separated from COCs before (immature) and after culture for 20 hours. Messenger RNA abundance was measured by real-time PCR. Data are presented as mean values ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) relative to a calibrator sample were calculated by the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method with efficiency correction. Asterisks indicate differences between 0 and 20 hours of culture (P<0.05). Data were derived from four independent replicates.

Genes	Primer Sequence	Fragment	Annealing
		size (bp)	Temperature (°C)
СҮС-А	F 5'-GCCATGGAGCGCTTTGG-3'	65	60
	R 5'-CCACAGTCAGCAATGGTGATCT-3'		
GAPDH	F 5'-GGCGTGAACCACGAGAAGTATAA-3'	119	62
	R 5'-CCCTCCACGATGCCAAAGT-3'		
H2AFZ	F 5'-GAGGAGCTGAACAAGCTGTTG-3'	74	60
	R 5'-TTGTGGTGGCTCTCAGTCTTC-3'		
FGF8	F 5'-TGAGACAGGCCTCTACATCTGCAT-3'	106	60
ECE10	R 5'- ATTGTTCTCCAGCACGATCTCCGT-3'		
FGF10	F 5'-AAGGAGAIGICCGCIGGAGAAAGCI-3'	104	60
ECE17	K 5 -ACTGTACGGGCAGTTCTACTTCTT-5		
FGF1/	F 5 -CCGGGTGCGCATCAAG-5 P 5' CCTTCCCCCCTCTTATTCATACACA 3'	62	60
	Probe EAM 5' CTGAGAGTGAGAAATAC 3'		
RMP15	$F 5'_{GTC} \Delta GC \Delta GCC \Delta \Delta G \Delta GGT \Delta GTG_3'$	2.00	50
<b>D</b> M <b>I</b> 15	R 5'-CCCGAGGACATACTCCCTTAC-3'	360	59
GDF9	F 5'-TGGTCCTTGCTGAAGCATCTAGA-3'	202	50
0217	R 5'-ACAGTGTTGTAGAGGTGGCTTCT-3'	202	59
FGFR1b	F 5'-ACGTCCTGGTGACGGAGG-3'	126	60
	R 5'-CCGGTGCCATCCATTTGA-3'	120	00
FGFR2b	F 5'-TGTGGTTGGAGGTGATGT-3'	141	58
	R 5'-CGAGTGCTTCAGAACCTTG-3'		
FGFR2c	F 5'-CACCACGGACAAAGAAAT-3'	84	60
	R 5'-ATGCAGAGTGAAAGGATATCC-3'		
FGFR3c	F 5'-ACTGGTACAACACCTATGCCTCCA-3'	84	59
	R 5'-TCTGGACATGGTGGGCAACTTAGA-3'		
ALK6	F 5'-CAAACCAGCAATTGCCCATCGAGA–3'	87	60
	R 5'-AAGCCCAGGTCAGCTATACAGCAA–3'		
ALK5	F 5'-ATCIGGCCITGGTCCTGTTGAACT-3'	143	59
	K 5'-AUGAUGUATUUTUTTUATTIGUUA-3'		
BMPKII	F 5 - CUCAUTUTUGGUAUUUTGG-5 P 5' CCCCCCACTTATTTCCCCCCCC 2'	100	59
ADEC	E 5' CTTTCCTCTCTCCCATCACCTT 2'	100	
AKLO	P 5' CGTTCTTCAGCGACACCTTCA 3'	100	60
FRFG	F 5'-ACTGCACAGCATTAGTTCAAACTGA-3'	100	<u>(</u> )
EREO	R 5'-TGTCCATGCAAACAGTAGCCATT-3'	100	60
BTC	F 5'-GCCCCAAGCAGTACAAGCAT-3'	100	50
	R 5'-GCCCCAGCATAGCCTTCATC-3'	100	39
EGFR	F 5'-AAAGTTTGCCAAGGGACAAG-3'	253	53
-	R 5'-AAAGCACATTTCCTCGGATG-3'	233	55

**Table I**. Information of specific primers used for amplification in real time PCR.

F= forward primer; R= reverse primer











## **RESULTADOS ADICIONAIS**

## EFEITOS DA PROTEÍNA MORFOGÊNICA ÓSSEA (BMP15) E DO FATOR DE CRESCIMENTO FIBROBLÁSTICO 10 (FGF10) SOBRE A VIA METABÓLICA DE EXPANSÃO DO CUMULUS

## 1 INTRODUÇÃO

Durante o desenvolvimento deste trabalho tivemos a oportunidade de discutir os resultados apresentados nos capítulo anteriores com os pesquisadores Robert Gilchrist e Jeremy Thompson do "*Research Centre for Reproductive Health, Robinson Institute*" da Universidade de Adelaide – Austrália, um grupo de pesquisa referência em estudos relacionados à interação oócito-células do cumulus e à investigação dos processos metabólicos envolvidos na maturação do complexo cumulus-oócito (COC). De posse da informação de que o fator de crescimento fibroblástico 10 (FGF10) e a proteína morfogênica óssea 15 (BMP15) são capazes de melhorar a expansão do cumulus pelo controle transcricional de genes reguladores da expansão, outros genes reguladores do metabolismo da expansão do cumulus se tornaram alvo interessante de avaliação. Em adição, consideramos pertinente investigar dados funcionais relacionados ao consumo de glicose, um substrato essencial para a síntese de ácido hialurônico.

A glicose é captada para dentro das células do cumulus através da ação dos facilitadores do transporte da glicose (GLUT; Morita *et al.*, 1992; Watson e Pessin, 2001). Após ser captada, a glicose influencia vários aspectos da maturação oocitária e o seu metabolismo está relacionado com a capacidade de desenvolvimento do oócito (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2006). A glicose consumida pelo COC pode ser utilizada para a produção de energia, homeostase celular, maturação nuclear e substrato para a produção de matriz extracelular. Até o presente momento 4 vias metabólicas da glicose foram identificadas: a glicólise (produção de energia), a via pentose fosfato, a via biossíntese da hexosamina e a via poliol (Figura 1; Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2010).



**Figura 1** – Vias metabólicas através das quais a glicose pode ser utilizada no complexo cumulus-oócito (COC). AR, aldose redutase; ECM, matriz extracelular; G6PDH, glicose-6-fosfato desidrogenase; GFPT, glicosamina:frutose-6-fosfato acetil transferase; HAS-2, hialurona sintetase 2; HK, hexoquinase; OGT, glicosilação O-*linked*; PFK, fosfofrutoquinase; SDH, sorbitol desidrogenase (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2010).

Durante a maturação *in vitro* (MIV), o ácido láctico é o primeiro produto do metabolismo da glicose pelo COC bovino, indicando que a glicólise é o destino predominante da glicose (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2006). No entanto, foi demonstrado que ao longo das 24 horas da MIV, o consumo de glicose aumenta enquanto a produção de L-lactato permanece constante, sugerindo um destino alternativo para uma parte da glicose consumida (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2004). Em adição, foi observado que uma considerável proporção de glicose é cada vez mais utilizada pelo compartimento somático para a produção da matriz extracelular e mucificação das células do cumulus, estimuladas pelo FSH (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2004).

A via da biossíntese da hexosamina permite que a glicose seja utilizada para a síntese de glicosaminoglicanos, como o ácido hialurônico, necessário para a expansão do cumulus (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2010). Enquanto nas células somáticas não reprodutivas esta via é responsável por somente 1 a 3% do metabolismo da glicose (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2006),

nas células do cumulus estima-se que 23% da glicose consumida seja dirigida para a via da hexosamina (Gutnisky *et al.*, 2007). Isto sugere que o aumento na taxa do consumo de glicose pelos COCs no final da MIV está relacionado com a produção da matriz extracelular e expansão do cumulus através da via hexosamina (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2010).

A principal enzima reguladora da via da hexosamina é a L-glicosamina:D-frutose-6fosfato acetil transferase (GFPT). Tal enzima é responsável pela conversão da frutose-6fosfato em glicosamina-6-fosfato, sendo a UDP-N-acetil glicosamina o produto final da via. Nas células do cumulus, a maioria da UDP-N-acetil glicosamina é convertida pela enzima HAS2 em ácido hialurônico, o principal componente da matriz extracelular das células do cumulus (Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2006; Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2010). A Figura 2 ilustra a via metabólica de utilização da glicose para a síntese de ácido hialurônico.



**Figura 2** – Utilização da glicose pela via da hexosamina para a síntese de ácido hialurônico (Adaptado de Sutton-McDowall *et al.*, 2004).

Levando em consideração as informações acima, foi sugerida pelos pesquisadores Jeremy Thompson e Robert Gilchrist, a investigação dos efeitos da BMP15, do FGF10 e da interação de ambos sobre as taxas de consumo de glicose e produção de lactato ao final da MIV, assim como, sobre a expressão dos RNAm das duas isoformas da enzima envolvida na via metabólica de expansão do cumulus, a GFPT1 e a GFPT2. Foram avaliados também os efeitos da BMP15 e do FGF10 sobre a expressão de dois membros da família dos facilitadores do transporte da glicose (GLUT), o facilitador do transporte da glicose sensível à insulina (GLUT4) e o GLUT1. Para tanto, foram conduzidos dois experimentos com o objetivo de investigar se os fatores secretados pelos oócitos (FSOs) podem impactar a atividade da via biossíntese da hexosamina.

## 2 EFEITOS DA BMP15 E DO FGF10 SOBRE O CONSUMO DE GLICOSE E PRODUÇÃO DE LACTATO

O experimento para a avaliação dos efeitos da BMP15, do FGF10 e da combinação de ambos sobre o consumo de glucose e produção de lactato no final da MIV foi realizado pelo grupo do pesquisador Jeremy Thompson na Universidade de Adelaide. Foi utilizada a mesma composição do meio de maturação (meio base, concentração e fonte dos suplementos), assim como as condições de incubação adotadas nos experimentos realizados em nosso laboratório (descritas no artigo que compõe o capítulo 2).

Grupos de 10 COCs bovinos foram cultivados em 200  $\mu$ l de meio de maturação por 22 horas, a 38,5°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, em atmosfera umidificada. O meio de maturação consistia de TCM199 com sais de Earl's suplementado com pFSH (1  $\mu$ g/ml), pLH (10 UI/ml), piruvato de sódio (22  $\mu$ l/ml), amicacina (75  $\mu$ g/ml) e BSA (4 mg/ml). Para testar os efeitos dos FSOs foi adicionado ao meio de maturação BMP15 recombinante humana (100 ng/ml; n=3), FGF10 recombinante humano (10 ng/ml; n=3) e BMP15 (100 ng/ml) em combinação com o FGF10 (10 ng/ml; n=3). Ao final da maturação por 22 horas, o meio gasto foi coletado e estocado à - 80°C.

Para a determinação quantitativa do consumo de glicose e produção de lactato, 100 µl do meio gasto foram analisados pelo sistema automatizado Roche Hitachi 912, utilizando os kits para ensaio de glicose (Gluco-quant Glicose HK®, Roche Diagnostics, NSW, Australia) e lactato (Lactato LACT®, Roche Diagnostics, NSW, Australia). Os dados estão expressos como pmol/COC/h. Os resultados foram analisados utilizando um modelo linear geral e o teste Bonferroni post-hoc.

A presença de ambas as proteínas, BMP15 e FGF10, aumentou o consumo de glicose em comparação com o grupo controle (ausência das proteínas; P<0,05). Entretanto, não houve efeito aditivo da BMP15 e FGF10 em combinação sobre o consumo de glicose em relação aos grupos tratados com cada fator individualmente (Figura 3A). Em adição, não foram notadas
diferenças na produção de lactato entre os tratamentos (Figura 3B), indicando que apesar do aumento no consumo de glicose na presença de BMP15 e FGF10, a proporção de glicose metabolizada via glicólise para a produção de lactato não foi alterada.



**Figura 3** – Consumo de glicose (A) e produção de lactato (B) pelos complexos cumulus-oócito (COCs) após 22 horas de maturação em meio controle (-BMP15 - FGF10), +BMP15 (100ng/ml), +FGF10 (10ng/ml) ou +BMP15 +FGF10. Os dados estão apresentados como média  $\pm$ EPM. As barras com diferentes letras indicam valores significativamente diferentes (*P*<0,05). Os dados foram obtidos a partir de 3 réplicas para cada tratamento.

## 3 EFEITOS DA BMP15 E DO FGF10 SOBRE A EXPRESSÃO GÊNICA DAS ENZIMAS GFPT1 E GFPT2 E DOS FACILITADORES DO TRANSPORTE DA GLICOSE (GLUT1 E GLUT4)

A expressão do RNAm da GFPT1, GFPT2, GLUT1 e GLUT4 foi avaliada nas células do cumulus dos experimentos de dose resposta de FGF10 e BMP15, assim como no experimento de interação da BMP15 com o FGF10, nos momentos 4, 12 e 22 horas de maturação. Toda a metodologia adotada em tais experimentos encontra-se descrita no artigo que compõe o capítulo 2.

A BMP15 na dose de 100ng/ml estimulou a expressão do RNAm da GFPT2 a partir das 12 horas de maturação e da GFPT1 e do GLUT1 às 22 horas de maturação (P<0,05; Figura 4). A expressão do GLUT4 não foi afetada pelo tratamento com a BMP15. Já o FGF10 estimulou (50ng/ml) a abundância do RNAm GFPT1 às 12 horas de maturação (P<0,05), porém não alterou a expressão da GFPT2, GLUT1 e GLUT4 (Figura 5). A combinação da BMP15 com o FGF10 não modificou a expressão do RNAm da GFPT1, GFPT2, GLUT1 e GLUT4 diferentemente da BMP15 ou do FGF10 adicionados individualmente (dados não mostrados).

Em resumo, os resultados de expressão gênica indicam que a BMP15 pode regular a captação de glicose através da modulação do facilitador do transporte da glicose, GLUT1. Em adição, a regulação do FGF10 e, em especial, da BMP15 sobre a expressão gênica da enzima GFPT, em conjunto com os dados referentes ao aumento do consumo de glicose e manutenção na produção de lactato, sustentam a hipótese de que estes FSOs podem modular o processo metabólico de expansão do cumulus através de um aumento na atividade da via da biossíntese da hexosamina. Para confirmar a hipótese de que a maior proporção de glicose consumida após o tratamento com BMP15 e FGF10 é direcionada para a produção da matriz extracelular e mucificação das células do cumulus é necessário primeiramente avaliar a incorporação de glicose na matriz extracelular. Um experimento com este objetivo está em andamento no "Research Centre for Reproductive Health, Robinson Institute" Universidade de Adelaide - Austrália, sob a supervisão dos pesquisadores Jeremy Thompson e Robert Gilchrist.



**Figura 4** – Efeito das doses crescentes de BMP15 sobre a abundância de RNAm da GFPT1, GFPT2, GLUT1 e GLUT4 nas células do cumulus. Os COCs foram cultivados com doses crescentes de BMP15 por 4, 12 e 22 horas. A abundância do RNAm foi mensurada por PCR em tempo real. Os dados estão apresentados como média (±EPM) em relação a uma amostra calibradora pelo método de  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct com correção da eficiência. As barras com diferentes letras indicam valores significativamente diferentes (P<0,05). Os dados foram obtidos a partir de 4 réplicas para cada tratamento.



**Figura 5** – Efeito das doses crescentes de FGF10 sobre a abundância de RNAm da GFPT1, GFPT2, GLUT1 e GLUT4 nas células do cumulus. Os COCs foram cultivados com doses crescentes de FGF10 por 4, 12 e 22 horas. A abundância do RNAm foi mensurada por PCR em tempo real. Os dados estão apresentados como média ( $\pm$ EPM) em relação a uma amostra calibradora pelo método de  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct com correção da eficiência. As barras com diferentes letras indicam valores significativamente diferentes (P<0,05). Os dados foram obtidos a partir de 4 réplicas para cada tratamento.

## **4 REFERÊNCIAS BIBLIOGRÁFICAS**

- Gutnisky C, Dalvit GC, Pintos LN, Thompson JG, Beconi MT, Cetica PD (2007) Influence of hyaluronic acid synthesis and cumulus mucification on bovine oocyte in vitro maturation, fertilisation and embryo development. Reprod Fertil Dev 19, 488-497.
- Morita Y, Tsutsumi O, Hosoya I, Taketani Y, Oka Y, Kato T (1992) Expression and possible function of glucose transporter protein GLUT1 during preimplantation mouse development from oocytes to blastocysts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **188**, 8-15.
- Sutton-McDowall ME, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2004) Cumulus expansion and glucose utilisation by bovine cumulus–oocyte complexes during in vitro maturation: the influence of glucosamine and follicle-stimulating hormone. Reproduction **128**, 313–319.
- Sutton-McDowall ML, Mitchell M, Cetica P, Dalvit G, Pantaleon M, Lane M, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2006) Glucosamine supplementation during in vitro maturation inhibits subsequent embryo development: possible role of the hexosamine pathway as a regulator of developmental competence. Biol Reprod **74**, 881-888.
- Sutton-McDowall ML, Gilchrist RB, Thompson JG (2010) The pivotal role of glucose metabolism in determining oocyte developmental competence. Reproduction **139**, 1-12.
- Watson RT, Pessin JE (2001) Intracellular organization of insulin signaling and GLUT4 translocation. Recent Prog Horm Res **56**, 175-93.

CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

## **CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS**

Diante de evidências crescentes acerca do papel modulador do oócito sobre a diferenciação das células do cumulus, bem como da importância desta diferenciação para a competência do oócito e para o desenvolvimento embrionário, este trabalho estudou algumas funções e a regulação de importantes fatores secretados pelo oócito (FSOs) durante a maturação in vitro em bovinos. Em resumo, foi demonstrado um efeito positivo da BMP15 e do FGF10 sobre a expansão do cumulus, associado à regulação da expressão gênica, por ambos os fatores, em diferentes estágios da cascata molecular que induz a expansão, conforme modelo sugerido na Figura1. Estes resultados são consistentes com dados da literatura que mostram ações benéficas da BMP15 e do FGF10 nas taxas de desenvolvimento embrionário, uma vez que a expansão do cumulus foi previamente associada a melhores taxas de fecundação e desenvolvimento embrionário in vitro (Slotte et al., 1993; Gutnisky et al., 2007). Adicionalmente, foi demonstrado que o FSH regula a expressão de genes relacionados com a expansão do cumulus, assim como a expressão de receptores para FGFs e BMP15 nas células do cumulus durante a maturação in vitro. Estes dados reforçam a hipótese de que a sinalização por meio dos FGFRs e de receptores da BMP15 é importante no processo de expansão do cumulus em bovinos e, possivelmente, para outros aspectos da diferenciação do complexo cumulus-oócito. Vale ainda ressaltar que resultados preliminares sugerem que a BMP15 e o FGF10 modulam o processo metabólico de expansão do cumulus através da intensificação da via da biossíntese da hexosamina, responsável pela produção do ácido hialurônico.

Vale destacar que a pesquisa básica, tal como o presente trabalho apresenta, tem permitido um substancial avanço na compreensão do eixo de comunicação entre o oócito e as células somáticas foliculares e dos eventos moleculares que desencadeiam a retomada da meiose e a expansão do cumulus durante a maturação oocitária. Este conhecimento é fundamental para o aperfeiçoamento da técnica de maturação oocitária *in vitro*, uma etapa chave na reprodução assistida como uma importante plataforma tecnológica para a fecundação e produção embrionária *in vitro*, tecnologia de células tronco embrionária, clonagem e trangenia.



**Figura 1** – Modelo sugerido para a regulação da expressão de genes indutores da expansão do cumulus pela BMP15 e FGF10. Enquanto a BMP15, via SMADs1/5/8, parece estimular a expressão de genes do início da cascata que leva à expansão (ADAM10, ADAM17, AREG e EREG), e por intermádio deles, a expressão de genes que diretamente estimulam a expansão do cumulus (COX2, TSG6, PTX3 e HAS2), o FGF10 parece agir especificamente sobre esses últimos, particularmente a COX2.